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ABOUT THIS REPORT

New Frontier’s management is based in London and its asset
management function is outsourced to Waypoint New Frontier
Ltd, a subsidiary of Waypoint Asset Management Ltd. The
Waypoint Group are experienced pan-European real estate
advisors with proven investment and asset management
success across multiple property sectors in the UK and
Europe. The Company’s property portfolio is held by a number
of wholly-owned subsidiaries. (Please see page 62 for details).

Scope and boundary
This integrated report has been prepared by New Frontier to
provide stakeholders with an understanding of the Group’s
business model, strategy, past performance and future
prospects. The report is written primarily for shareholders and
investors. It covers the activities of the Group for the financial
year 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018, and addresses the
material financial and non-financial risks and opportunities
that impact value creation and strategy development.
Any material events after year-end, but before publication of
this report, have been included.

Reporting frameworks and regulations
The financial reporting contained in this Integrated Report
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), as applied to the annual financial statements.
The report has been prepared in terms of the Mauritian
Companies Act 2001, SEM Listing Rules, Code of Corporate
Governance for Mauritius, (“the Code”), JSE Listings
Requirements, King Report on Corporate Governance
for South Africa 2016 (“King IV”).

Forward-looking statements
This report includes forward-looking statements that involve
inherent risks and uncertainties and, if one or more of these
risks materialise, or should the underlying assumptions
prove incorrect, actual results may be different from those
anticipated. Words such as believe, anticipate, intend,
seek, will, plan, could, may, endeavour, project and similar
expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements, but are not the exclusive means of identifying
such statements. Forward-looking statements apply only
as of the date on which they are made, and New Frontier
does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any of
them, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.

Statement of responsibility
The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the integrity of this Integrated
Annual Report. The annual financial statements included
in this integrated report have been audited by the external
auditors.

Sisa Ngebulana
Chairman

Mike Riley
Chief Executive
Officer

George Titan
Chairman Audit and
Risk Committee

This report is in line with the guidelines of the Integrated
Reporting Framework issued by the International Integrated
Reporting Council in December 2013.

Materiality
This report provides information on all those matters that
we believe are key to New Frontier’s ability to create value
over time and which are likely to have a significant impact
on the current and projected revenue and profitability of
the business.

Assurance
The Company’s external auditor, BDO, has provided assurance
on the annual financial statements and expressed a qualified
audit opinion thereon. The financial statements have been
prepared under the supervision of Patrick Smith the Financial
Director of New Frontier. The content of this Integrated
Report has been reviewed by the Board, but has not been
externally assured.
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OUR BUSINESS

SECTION

OUR STRATEGY
VISION

Our vision is to build a reputable retail and logistics focused
fund that capitalises on the economic growth currently
underpinning the property markets in the UK and mainland
Europe, with the aim of providing solid returns to our
shareholders.

MISSION

Our business

New Frontier, is dual listed on the SEM
in Mauritius and AltX in South Africa.

New Frontier’s mission is to seek, acquire and develop assets
that provide value, income generation and yield enhancement.
As a relatively young business, New Frontier aims to build
a reputation for honesty and integrity, recognising that
our future success will be highly dependent on adopting
a straightforward and consistent approach in our business
dealings.

OUR VALUES
•
•
•
•
•

Integrity in business dealings.
Excellence in professional standards.
Commitment and drive in achieving shareholder value.
Compassion for fellow professionals and the wider
community.
Teamwork.

Established in 2014, our objective is to build a retail and
logistics/warehouse focused investment property portfolio
that offers South African and Mauritian investors access
to income and capital growth in established hard currency
markets. We are delivering on that objective by pursuing
strategic investments and optimising the performance of our
property assets.
Our investment strategy previously targeted high quality,
income-generating shopping centres and has now broadened
to include retail logistics and warehousing property assets
occupied by the growing online retail sector, in the UK
and mainland Europe. Our investment portfolio comprises
three shopping centres in the United Kingdom, valued at
GBP187.4 million at 31 August 2018 and a logistics warehouse
in Dublin valued at GBP8.0 million

OUR RETAIL PORTFOLIO
AT A GLANCE

Three regionally dominant UK shopping centres with asset
management projects in the pipeline, low vacancies and
strong anchor tenants:
•
•
•

Cleveland Centre in Middlesbrough.
Coopers Square in Burton upon Trent.
Houndshill Shopping Centre in Blackpool.

Total GLA sq ft:

1 117 957

Portfolio valuation:

GBP187.4 million as at 31 August 2018

OUR LOGISTICS PORTFOLIO
AT A GLANCE

A 80 065 sq ft warehouse located in a strategic logistics
position in north-west Dublin near the International Airport
and Dublin Port Tunnel.
Portfolio valuation:

GBP8.0 million (EUR8.9 million) as at
31 August 2018
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

The retail property sector has been hit by a series of Company
Voluntary Arrangements (“CVAs”) and receiverships which
have affected UK retail. Tenants, including New Look,
Poundworld, and Select, have reduced rents and closed stores.
It is expected that the challenging conditions will persist with
further CVAs and companies going into administration. This
picture will continue until some level of certainty occurs from
the Brexit process.
These events have led to yield and capitalisation rate
appreciation resulting in a fall in valuations of retail assets and
higher LTVs across the UK.
The fall in valuations due to this unique set of conditions has
caused the Group to breach its loan covenants on both of its
facilities. Both of the Group’s lenders are supporting the Group
by releasing funds for operational matters and for providing
capital expenditure for lettings. In order to improve our debt
position we have put our only logistic asset in Dublin on the
market for sale and the banks are applying the excess cash
generated by our business to further reduce our loans.
These events have led to a review of the Group’s strategy to
focus on how to restructure and best preserve shareholder
value in the short to medium term. This will include a review of
the Group’s listed status.

Our focus will continue
to be to run a better
business, remain
disciplined and minimise
costs

Our focus will continue to be to run a better business, remain
disciplined and minimise costs whilst working with our lenders
to implement accretive asset management opportunities. To
this end the Group’s asset manager has agreed to defer 50%
of their fees and savings have been realised.
The full-year distribution was GBP3.0 pence per share, down
from GBP7.2 pence at the end of the last financial year. The
drop reflects a fall in property rental income over the period
resulting primarily from the number and size of the CVAs.
The composition of our Board underwent some changes
during the year. Mr Nigel Gurkin resigned as Finance Director.
I would like to thank Mr Andile Mazwai and Mr Daniel
Romburgh who resigned as non-executive directors of
New Frontier during the year, for their contributions to the
Company.
On behalf of the Board I thank the executive directors and our
colleagues at Waypoint for their efforts during this challenging
year.

I am pleased to present our Integrated Annual Report for the
financial year ended 31 August 2018.

Waypoint’s extensive UK experience will stand New Frontier in
good stead in the year ahead as we endeavour to protect our
remaining equity.

The UK macroeconomic environment has been a very
challenging one in 2018 none more-so than in retail property
sector.
The uncertainty over Brexit has led to reduced consumer
confidence, sterling depreciation combined with increased
business rates, higher minimum wages, and lack of business
confidence with planned disinvestments and migration of
business to Europe.
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Sisa Ngebulana
Chairman
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OUR BUSINESS

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2018

• Comprehensive income: loss of GBP75.077 million
(2017: a profit of GBP2.526 million)
• Distribution: GBP3.0 pence per share (2017: GBP7.2 pence
per share)

FINANCIAL

HIGHLIGHTS

• Headline earnings per share: GBP2.7 pence
• NAV: GBP14 pence per share
• Cost to income ratio: 19.4%
• Average “all in” cost of debt: 3.09% per annum

• Assets under management GBP 195.4 million
• Acquisition of logistics warehouse in Dublin
• Rental income GBP17.521 million (2017: 19.279)

PORTFOLIO

• Occupancy 90.3% by ERV
• Leasing events: 22

HIGHLIGHTS

• Debt reduction
• Sale of Dublin warehouse
• Cost reduction

FUTURE

• Review listed status with a view to de-listing

PRIORITIES

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
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OUR PORTFOLIO

Geographic spread

UNITED
KINGDOM
HOUNDSHILL
SHOPPING
CENTRE

Middlesbrough

Coopers Square in Burton upon
Trent
Coopers Square is a modern,
fully covered shopping centre,
established in 1970, in the highly
desirable Staffordshire town of
Burton upon Trent, close to the
Peak District National Park.

Blackpool
Dublin
Burton upon Trent

ACQUIRED POST YEAR-END

EUROPE
6

STADIUM
BUSINESS
PARK
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BUSINESS
OVERVIEW
OUR BUSINESS

Cleveland Centre is
the largest centre in
Middlesbrough and
most dominant retail
location in the wider
urban area of Teesside.

Size (GLA):

411 960 sq ft
Value:

GBP49.8 million
Offer:

60+

shops, cafés and
restaurants, 550-space car
park, new hotel adjacent to
property
GBP12.13 Rental value per
square foot
The Houndshill Shopping
Centre in Blackpool is a
modern, fully covered,
shopping centre. Houndshill
is the only fully covered
shopping centre in
Blackpool, a popular seaside
town that attracts some
13 million visitors every year.
Located in the shadow of
the iconic Blackpool Tower,
the centre underwent a
GBP40 million extension
and refurbishment in 2008.

Size (GLA):

302 377 sq ft
Value:

GBP70.2 million
Offer:

Primary catchment
population:

550 000

Costa, HMV, Virgin, Glamour
Forever and Well Pharmacy

Anchors:
Debenhams, New Look,
River Island, Next JD Sports
Primary catchment population:

290 000

65+ shops, 70 car parking
spaces

GBP19.99 Rental value per
square foot

Renewals include Drichmann
and 02

Size (GLA):

Anchors:
Marks & Spencer, Primark,
Next and New Look

Value:

GBP67.5 million
Offer:

70+

shops, cafes and
restaurants
GBP14.83 Rental value per
square foot

Size (GLA):

80 065 sq ft
Value:

GBP7.97 million
Net initial yield:

7.59%
EUR9.30 Rental value per
square foot

CLEVELAND
CENTRE

Highlights in 2018:
Lettings and lease renewals
include:

Highlights in 2018:
Upsizes concluded with River
Island and Footasylum

403 620 sq ft

The modern warehouse
facility is strategically
located on the orbital
motorway of Dublin in close
proximity to the airport and
Dublin Port Tunnel, in an
area subject to considerable
investment in logistics.
This logistics unit is the
only building of its size in
the immediate area and is
situated within a 52-acre
landscaped industrial park.

Anchors:
Boots, Topshop,
New Look and H&M

Primary catchment
population:

243 000

COOPERS
SQUARE

Highlights in 2018:
New H&M store opened and
trading well
Lease renewals – Top Shop
Accessorise, Vision Express and 3UK

Tenant:
Viking Direct (Ireland) Ltd,
which is part of Office Depot,
one of the largest suppliers of
office stationery in the world
Lease agreement:
20-year full repairing
and insuring lease from
24 August 2007 at a rent of

EUR743 518
per annum
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

01

Sisa Ngebulana (51)

02

Michael Riley (57)

Tinesh Ramprusad (33)

Chief Executive Officer

Non-executive Director

Sisa founded Billion Group, a major South
African property development and investment
company, in 1998, and the Rebosis Property
Fund, as a South African REIT, in 2010. He was
responsible for the development of a number
of regional shopping malls in South Africa,
including Hemingways Mall, Forest Hill City,
Mdantsane City and BT NGebs City. Sisa is an
attorney of the High Court of South Africa.
He has won Entrepreneur of the Year, Pioneer
and African Business Excellence awards, and is
a past president of the South African Council
of Shopping Centres. He is the non-executive
Deputy Chairman of Rebosis Property Fund Ltd
and Ascension Properties Ltd. Sisa chairs the
Nominations and Investment Committees.

Michael has over 30 years’ experience in the real
estate sector, notably in financial services and
fund management. He became joint managing
director of HBV Real Estate Capital in 1999,
with responsibility for a loan book of over GBP8
billion, before assuming roles at Quintain Estates,
latterly as chief executive, and Castlemore
Securities.
In January 2005, he became joint CEO of The
Local Shopping REIT, which subsequently listed
on the London Stock Exchange and had a
UK portfolio of over 700 properties. He set up
Waypoint Asset Management in 2013. Michael
serves on the Corporate Governance and
Remuneration, Nominations and Investment
Committees.

Tinesh is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, UK, and a member of the
Mauritius Institute of Directors. He is also licensed
as a practitioner by the Mauritius Institute of
Professional Accountants in Mauritius. Tinesh
has over 13 years’ experience in various business
sectors including the financial services and
global business, while working for companies
including KPMG, Deutsche Bank and Baker Tilly in
Mauritius. He has acquired significant expertise in
areas of finance, taxation, risk management and
controls and he serves on the Boards of various
domestic and global business entities.

03

Patrick Smith (53)

Finance Director
Appointed 1 August 2018
Patrick is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and has
over 25 years’ experience working in the UK
real estate sector including retail exposure at
Westfield Group and more recently eight years
at Capital & Regional plc, a UK listed REIT. He
has significant experience in finance, accounting
and consolidations, property taxation, managing
and adapting complex group structures. He has
strong skills in raising real estate debt finance,
treasury, risk management and controls. He
also serves on the Board of the directors of the
Waypoint Group and a social housing group in
the UK.
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04

Non-executive Chairman

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

OUR PERFORMANCE

05

Rob Becker (56)

Appointed 28 November 2018
Rob is a chartered accountant and holds
an MBA in corporate strategy from Brunel
University in the United Kingdom. He has held
several executive board positions as large, listed
multinationals such as chief financial officer at
Sun International Limited, Nampak Limited and
Robertsons Holdings Proprietary. He currently
is the chief investment officer and executive
director of Rebosis Property Fund Limited. Rob
serves on the Audit and Risk Committee of the
Company.

06

Richard Thomas (56)

Lead Independent Non-executive
Director
Richard is chairman of UK investor advisor
Oak Room Capital Partners and has 25 years’
experience in executing transactions across real
estate, infrastructure and energy sectors.
A law graduate of Cambridge University, he has
also worked for NationsBank/Bank of America,
financing acquisitions for clients such as PepsiCo,
GM, Hanson and Eurotunnel. Richard serves on
the Audit & Risk Committee.

07

William Heaney (61)

Independent Non-executive Director
William runs his own consultancy business,
specialising in corporate strategy and
administration. He is also a consultant to a
number of businesses, including the property
fund management group Internos Global
Investors. He was company secretary and group
services director at Chesterton International plc
for 19 years and was a director of Exchequer
Partnership plc. He has been company secretary
of The Local Shopping REIT plc since its stock
exchange listing in 2007. William chairs the
Corporate Governance and Remuneration
Committee.

08

George Titan (35)

Non-executive Director
George is a member of the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants CA(SA)
and has over eight years’ experience in various
business sectors, including financial services and
global business, whilst working for companies
including Deloitte and BigWorld Mobile in South
Africa, and Tourvest and Wings Corporate
Travel in a group capacity managing complex
multi-national structures. He has acquired
significant expertise in the areas of finance,
taxation, strategic planning, company structuring,
consolidations, treasury, risk management and
controls. He also serves on the board of various
domestic and global business entities and is an
executive director of Osiris Corporate Solutions
(Mauritius) Limited.

Executive Directors
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Non-executive Directors
Independent Non-executive Directors
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OUR PERFORMANCE

CEO’S REPORT AND PORTFOLIO REVIEW

the Company putting both our property loans into default.
Our operational cash flow is more than sufficient to service
our loans and we are currently working in partnership with
both of the banks and their advisors, all of whom are being
supportive and are releasing funds for operational and capital
expenditure.
The asset manager has voluntarily reduced their fees to aid our
cash flow, notwithstanding the additional workload the present
challenging situation requires.
I am confident that after period of readjustment, dominant
shopping centres will see market outperformance as town
centres regenerate themselves with a more vibrant mix of
leisure, community uses and residential. For some town centres
this will mean that the local authorities will need to demolish
surplus retail space or repurpose redundant space as the
amount of retail floor space will reduce by at least 25% across
the UK.
The next period for the Company will be one of working
with all our stakeholders to ensure the best outcome for
the Company which could include selling individual assets,
restructuring, attracting new capital or full Company sale.

The Economy
The UK economy has continued to show weak growth during
the past year, currently running at 1.5%.

Our operational
cash flow is more than
sufficient to service
our loans

Economic growth has been impacted not only by Brexit
concerns, but extreme weather and the collapse of
construction firm, Carillion had weighed on activity. However,
the evidence of a Q2 improvement was enough to convince
the Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England to
raise the Bank Rate to 0.75% at its August meeting. But with
the data continuing to undermine the committee’s narrative
that a tighter labour market will drive up wages and inflation,
many commentators expect limited upward pressures on
rates in 2019. Indeed, given concerns around the durability of
global growth and uncertainty about Brexit, it is not difficult to
envisage interest rates will stay on hold throughout next year.
Sterling had weakened again over the summer, reaching a
13-month low of $1.27 in mid-August 2018. This reflects the
persistence of Brexit-related uncertainty and heightened
geopolitical risk, which has boosted the dollar. These factors
look likely to remain influential for the near-term.

OPERATIONAL REPORT

In November 2017, the Company’s portfolio acquired a
logistics property in Dublin as we started to implement
our diversification strategy into the logistic space sector.
Unfortunately raising further capital has proved to be
challenging and we were unable to complete on the
transaction in Hassfurt, Germany.
The Company’s shopping centre portfolio has faced a
challenging year, as has the UK-wide high street and the
shopping centre sectors. The number of administrations
and CVAs (Company Voluntary Arrangements) has caused
significant reductions to our rental income and when
combined with retailers looking to reduce their floorspace/
store numbers set alongside consumer uncertainty, it has
created the perfect storm.
There has been a decrease in the property values of the
shopping centre portfolio due to the fall in rental income and
the significant yield shift, which has detrimentally impacted

The relatively soft outturn for GDP growth over the summer
offers a poor launchpad for the remainder of the year. July
Purchasing Managers’ Index for both the manufacturing and
services sectors slip back. This supports our view that GDP
growth is unlikely to continue to accelerate from its Q1 trough,
with the pace set to remain tepid over the next couple of years.
Oxford Economics’ (OE) forecasts for GDP growth of 1.3% in
2018 and 1.4% in 2019 are unchanged from last month.
CPI inflation averaged 2.7% in 2017, its highest rate in five
years, causing a sharp squeeze on household spending power.
But inflation slowed in the first half of 2018, as the impact of
the 2016 sterling depreciation faded. Higher oil prices, rises
in domestic energy bills and renewed weakness in sterling
are likely to mean that inflation remains a feature, but the
weakness of core pressures means that inflation is likely to
resume its descent in 2019.
Against the backdrop of continued Brexit uncertainty, however,
further rate hikes will be increasingly difficult to justify, and OE
expect just one 25 basis point increase in Bank Rate in 2019.
For much of the above the main influence over the next two
years is likely to be the impact of the Brexit arrangements (or
otherwise) and the critical stage these discussions are entering.

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
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CEO’S REPORT AND PORTFOLIO REVIEW continued

This extended period of uncertainty creates both economic
and political risk.

UK investment market
The UK property market also appears to be going through a
period of fundamental change which requires a re-evaluation
of long-term held beliefs.
Industrial/warehouse property is now attracting yields of sub
4% in some cases driven by strong rental growth prospects.
This dynamic appears to be the result of decreased supply in
urban areas (much has been redeveloped for residential use)
and increased occupier demand reflecting the rise of internet
shopping and the requirement for increased last mile logistics.
Retail property on the other hand is suffering from a lack of
occupier demand as witnessed by numerous retailer failures
and CVAs, affecting many locations leading to falling rents and
historically poor investor demand and weak yield levels. The
market appears to have become fractured with large regional
type centres, central London and a few strong locations
which offer ‘all the brands’ performing well, but many others
struggling to retain occupiers. Local convenience retail and
many food stores are, on the other hand, performing well, with
the ‘middle ground’ losing its appeal with the consumer.
The rise of internet retail, one of the factors benefitting the
industrial/warehouse sector, is also playing a part in the
weakening of the retail market.
It is likely that the retail investment market for shopping
centres will remain very quiet over the next year until
the outcome of negotiations with the EU is more clearly
established. It is possible financial markets could weaken
or alternatively strengthen having a knock-on effect on the
property market. The outcome of the Brexit negotiations on
the UK’s trading terms with the EU could ultimately have a
significant impact on the UK economy and as a result UK
property.

Ireland
Economic activity in Ireland is projected to remain robust,
but to ease gradually. Abstracting from volatile activities
of multinational enterprises (MNEs), underlying domestic
demand will remain strong, underpinned by solid employment
growth and consumption. As the economy approaches full
employment, job growth will moderate while wage pressures
will be significant, feeding into higher inflation.

Dublin Logistics
The logistics/industrial market remains robust, but Brexit is
having an influence.
The Dublin industrial market delivered a robust performance
year to date. Driven by a strong third quarter, with 105 100m2.
transacting, just over 269 050m2 was taken up in the nine
months to September. The market will now surpass activity
recorded in the previous two years. In line with the robust
volumes of take up, and a limited volume of new completions,
supply levels and in turn the vacancy rate trended downwards.
A total of 505 250m2 of space was available at the end of Q3
2018, with a corresponding vacancy rate of 12.2%.

However, it must be noted occupier performance in the
market is evidently mixed. Anecdotal evidence would suggest
the market distils an air of quiet confidence, however, also
combined with a cautiousness around Brexit. Some occupiers
are actively working on securing space before the looming
Brexit deadline in March 2019, while some others are also
showing some signs of unease around how much space to
occupy.

LETTING ACTIVITY AND LEASE
RENEWALS

As at 31 August 2018, the centres at Blackpool, Middlesbrough
and Burton upon Trent have seen decreases in combined
occupancy to 90.27% (2017: 94.51%) by Estimated Rental
Value (“ERV”) and 88.14% (2017: 91.93%) by Gross Lettable
Area (“GLA”).
Since the year-end, several new lettings have occurred
including the upsizing of River Island and Footasylum in
Blackpool, which has helped to increase occupancy by ERV to
93.39% and 91.56% by GLA as at 31 October 2018.
In the past 12 months, New Frontier has concluded 22 leasing
events, seven of which have been core, long-term leases with
an average lease length of 8.75 years and average rent-free of
three months. Despite this, new long-term lettings and lease
renewals have only increased rental income by 0.11% against
2018 ERV. Again, this may be attributed to the growth in online
sales and the resulting spate of CVAs within the sector.
Nevertheless, New Frontier has continued to actively manage
its assets in a challenging retail environment – at Burton upon
Trent, Next opened a new 25 052 sq ft store in the old BHS
unit and in April 2018, H&M took the remaining 20 000 sq ft
space alongside Next. At Blackpool, the new IMAX cinema
development with ancillary retail is progressing. Meanwhile, at
Middlesbrough a number of new lettings are being progressed
which will strengthen and improve the quality of the centre’s
tenants further.

PROSPECTS

Over the past few months, the sector has been hit by a series
of CVAs and receiverships. Tenants including New Look,
Shakedog, Poundworld, Ministry of Design and Select have
reduced rents and closed stores across the UK. With further
CVAs and company administrations expected we anticipate
that these challenging conditions will continue to impact the
market and consequently business.
On 10 May 2018, the company announced that, at the Rebosis
Property Fund Limited (“Rebosis”) results presentation
held on 8 May 2018, Rebosis informed its shareholders
that it may motivate to restructure New Frontier including
inter alia, to propose the delisting of New Frontier and/or the
internalisation of New Frontier’s asset management.
The Group has noted the statement issued by Rebosis and
is considering a variety of options for the Company to save
costs, particularly in the current operating climate.
The Group’s asset manager has voluntarily agreed to assist
cash flow by accepting reduced payments and allowing the
unpaid balance of fees to roll up.
The Group will continue to actively manage the centres to
reduce vacancy and minimise void costs and is investigating
ways of reducing the level of debt including assessing
disposals and part disposals of our assets.
The Board considers that whilst the Group has the support of
its lenders, it can service its obligations in the normal course
of business and will continue as a going concern.
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EXIT FROM UK REIT REGIME

On 30 September 2018, the group served notice to HM
Revenue and Customs in the United Kingdom to leave the
UK REIT regime as it was unable to meet the Close company
requirement for UK REIT status as its shareholder base is not
sufficiently diversified.
On leaving the UK REIT regime, the Group will, in the interim,
continue to be UK tax resident and will be liable to pay UK
corporation tax at the prevailing rate on its profits. As a
consequence of the fall in property values, the Group will not
be able to implement intragroup borrowing arrangements to
obtain a tax deduction on some of its corporate expenses.
The effective rate of tax borne by the Group is likely to be
higher than the UK corporation tax rate.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TO
31 AUGUST 2018
Overall occupancy based
on ERV
Cost to income ratio
Value of portfolio (GBP)
ERV (GBP)

2018

2017

90.27%

94.51%

19.4%*

9.83%

195 million

266 million

17.62 million

18.24 million

3.0p

7.2p

Dividend

* The increase in cost to income ratio is due to normalisation of the asset
management fee.

Shareholders are advised that future distributions by the
company will comprise ordinary dividends rather than
property income distributions.

Income by covenant type
The vast majority of tenants in New Frontier’s shopping centres are a strong covenant with 83.11% of gross rental income coming
from national retail operators. An analysis of the income profile of the Group’s shopping centres is shown below.

Major tenants by income

Income type

Car Park Income – 8.15%
Boots UK Ltd – 4.75%
New Look – 4.14%
Next Group Plc – 4.06%
Dehenhams – 3.91%
Marks & Spencer – 3.35%
JD Sports Fashion – 3.22%
WH Smith Retail – 3.09%
Primark Stores Ltd – 2.41%
River Island Clothing
Co.Ltd – 2.06%
Other – 60.86%

Mall – 1.96%
Parking – 8.15%
TEMP – 2.19%
T/O – 1.03%
National Multiple – 83.11%
Independent Retailer – 2.55%
Regional Multiple – 1.03%

Tenant profile
The company’s tenant profile based on existing leases, are graded as follows:
Class A: National multiple retailers, listed companies
Class B: Regional Multiples smaller retailers
Class C: Local traders, independent retailers, small local companies

•
•
•

As at 31 August 2018, the company had 29 Class C tenants.
Lease expiry by gross rental

Weighted average unexpired lease term
20

25
20

15
15
10

10

5
0

5
Mall

Parking

<1 yr*

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

>2024

* Note 1: 11.2% of income has expired – holding over leases

WAULT to Expiry, yrs
0

WAULT to certain, yrs
Burton
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The portfolio benefits from a WAULT to expiry of 9.79 years
and to a term certain of 9.17 years.
Mike Riley
Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act 2004 of
Mauritius)
Name of Public Interest Entity: New Frontier
Reporting Period: 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018
We, the directors of New Frontier, confirm that, to the
best of our knowledge, the public interest entity has
complied with the Code other than as set out below:
The Company is pleased to report that its corporate
governance structures improved from the prior reporting
period, and that they, in material form, met with
international best practice. The following derogations
from the Code are noted, together with reasons for noncompliance:
3.9.5	The Nominations Committee did not have a majority
of non-executive directors during the year. The Board
considers the current composition of the Nominations
Committee adequate in line with its size and relative
simplicity of its business model.
3.9.3	The Company has established a combined Audit and
Risk Committee, the Board having decided that due
to the Company’s size and the relative simplicity of its
business model, the risk management process can be
adequately managed by the Company’s Audit and Risk
Committee.

SECTION

5.3	The Company has established an internal audit
function, the Board having decided that the cost of this
is not justified bearing in mind the Company’s size and
the relative simplicity of its business model. The Board
will consider the need for an internal audit function on
a quarterly basis, taking account of advice from the
Audit and Risk Committee and the Company’s auditors.
The last such consideration was on 4 July 2017.
Signed by:

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Mr Tinesh Sharma Ramprusad

Mr George Titan

Director

Director

7 December 2018
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YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

INTRODUCTION

New Frontier operates under corporate governance policies that embrace the principles and recommendations set out in the
Code, as a public interest entity as defined under the Code. The Company is committed to fulfilling the principles of King IV
applying to companies whose shares are traded on the alternative exchange of the JSE Limited. The Board is responsible for the
application of the principles contained in King IV and the Code and operates in accordance with terms of reference that comply
with such codes.

COMPANY STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDING

The holding structure of the Company as at the date of this report is set out below:

New Frontier
Properties
Ltd1, 3
(Mauritius)
100%
New Frontier
Guernsey 1
Ltd.1, 2
(Guernsey)
100%

2
3
4
5
6

16

NFE FinCo
Limited2
(Guernsey)

100%

Middlesbrough
Holdings
Limited2

Burton
Investments
Limited2

(Guernsey)

(Guernsey)

100%

1

100%

100%

100%

100%

New Frontier
Luxembourg
Limited1, 2

New Frontier
Europe
Limited1, 2

New Frontier
Guernsey II
Limited1, 2

(Guernsey)

(Guernsey)

(Guernsey)

100%
BCC Eiffel
Limited2
(Guernsey)

100%

100%
NF Germany
Hold Co
Limited1, 2
(Guernsey)
100%

100%

(Netherlands)

100%
NF Prop Co
s.r.o.6

(Guernsey)

(Slovakia)

100%

Burton
Shopping
Centre Limited2

NF Hassfurt
Investments
Limited1, 2

NF SD Property
Immobilien
GmbH & CoKG4

(Guernsey)

(Guernsey)

(Guernsey)

(Austria)
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NF Netherlands
Holdco B.V.1, 5

NF Austria Hold
Co Limited2

Middlesbrough
Shopping
Centre Limited2

Michael Riley is the director of these entities.
Nicola Walker, Jon Baker and Nicky Simon are the directors of these entities.
Sisa Ngebulana is the director of this entity.
Ferdinand Mayer and Martin Wager are the directors of these entities.
Meine van den Dolder and Gerardus Johannes Kamp are the directors of this entity.
Pavel Svarc and Jiri Matzner are the directors of this entity.

99%

100%
NF SD
Investments
GP Immobilien
GmbH4
(Austria)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDING

Interim Dividends – The directors may from time to time pay
to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the
directors to be justified by the surplus of the Company.

As at 31 August 2018, the following shareholders had holdings
exceeding 5% of the Company’s total shares in issue:

Subject to the rights of holders of shares entitled to special
rights as to dividends, all dividends shall be declared and paid
equally on all shares in issue at the date of declaration of the
dividend.

At 31 August 2018, the issued and fully paid-up share capital of
the Company was 160 935 407 shares, each of no par value.

Clyroplex (Pty) Ltd*
Delfitime (Pty) Ltd*
Delfisat (Pty) Ltd*
Delfiflo (Pty) Ltd*
Delfiwiz (Pty) Ltd*
Delficraft (Pty) Ltd*
Lesasign (Pty) Ltd*
Business Venture Inv
Business Venture Inv
Business Venture Inv
Business Venture Inv
Business Venture Inv

No
No
No
No
No

7.05%
7.05%
7.05%
7.05%
7.05%
7.05%
6.77%
5.68%
5.68%
5.68%
5.68%
5.68%

2027 (Pty) Ltd
2024 (Pty) Ltd
2025 (Pty) Ltd
2023 (Pty) Ltd
2026 (Pty) Ltd

*These entities are subsidiaries of Rebosis Property Fund Limited.

Public/non-public
shareholders

Number
of shareholders

Number
of shares Percentage

Non-Public
Shareholders

The Board is responsible to Shareholders for setting the
direction of the Company, through the establishment of
strategic objectives and key policies. The Board holds ultimate
responsibility for and control over the Company’s affairs
and monitors the operational activities and decisions of the
Company’s asset manager. The Board is responsible for the
Company’s corporate governance system, and is ultimately
accountable for its activities. In particular, the Board:
•
•
•
•

assesses and approves strategic plans;
approves financial plans and budgets;
monitors operational performance; and
determines processes for risk management and internal
controls.

The Board’s policy is that the majority of directors shall be
independent and non-executive. The Board’s structure is
unitary.
The following directors held office during the period:

Directors and
associates

2

89 954

0.06

Rebosis Property Fund
Limited

7

78 971 002

49.07

108

81 874 451

50.87

Public Shareholders

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Shareholder classification

Percentage

Holding Company
Empowerment
Trust
Other
Retirement Fund
Mutual Fund

49.07
28.40
12.16
5.33
3.66
1.38

Sisa Ngebulana
(Chairman)*
Daniel Romburgh*
Tinesh Ramprusad*
Andile Mazwai*
Michael Riley (CEO)
Nigel Gurkin (FD)
Richard Thomas**

William Heaney**
John Needham**

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Marelise De Lange*

DIVIDEND POLICY

George Titan*
Patrick Smith (FD)
Rob Becker*

There was no contract of significance subsisting during
the period to which the Company is a party and in which a
director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.
The Company’s dividend policy during the period was as
follows:

appointed 25 March 2015
appointed 20 June 2014, resigned
14 February 2018
appointed 22 June 2015
appointed 25 March 2015, resigned
26 April 2018
appointed 7 April 2015
appointed 4 April 2016, resigned
1 August 2018
appointed 20 October 2015 (appointed
as Lead Independent Non-Executive
Director on 11 January 2017)
appointed 20 October 2015
appointed 4 April 2016, resigned
30 September 2017
appointed 5 July 2017, resigned
26 November 2018
appointed 14 February 2018
appointed 1 August 2018
appointed 28 November 2018

*Non-executive
**Independent non-executive

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends
but may not declare a larger dividend than that declared
by the directors and no dividend may be declared and paid
except out of profits and unless the directors determine that
immediately after the payment of the dividend:
1.

the Company shall be able to satisfy the solvency test in
accordance with section 6 of the Mauritian Companies Act
2001; and

2. the realisable value of the assets of the Company will
not be less than the sum of its total liabilities, other than
deferred taxes, as shown in its books of account, and its
capital.

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
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YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

All major strategic decisions are taken by the Board as a
whole and there is a formal schedule of items reserved for
consideration by the Board. The Board constitutes the senior
management of the Company. The Board meets regularly
to review the Company’s operations and progress with the
Company’s investment strategy. Each Board meeting has a
formal agenda and key items, such as portfolio performance
and progress with acquisitions, are reviewed on a regular
basis. The Board also monitors finance, risk, corporate
responsibility and environmental matters. All directors receive
relevant reports and papers prior to each meeting. Additional
meetings and discussions take place outside the Board’s
regular meeting schedule as the need arises. The executive
directors consult the non-executive directors on a regular
basis. The non-executive directors also hold discussions in the
absence of the executive directors.

In order to meet all the legal and regulatory requirements
and effectively discharge its duties, including the exercise
of adequate oversight over the activities of the subsidiaries
and other entities of the group, the Board may delegate
some of its functions to specialised board committees. From
time to time, the Board may delegate specific assignments
to directors or other parties to better guide the Board in
important matters requiring significant expertise. Delegation,
however, does not discharge the Board from its duties and
responsibilities and while delegating authorities, the Board
should consider its fiduciary duties and responsibilities under
the Companies Act.
The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in
accordance with its charter for the reporting period.

Board composition

The responsibilities of each director have been made clear to
them and they are provided with written material regarding
the Company’s corporate governance arrangements, including
the Board Charter and the terms of reference of the Board’s
committees. All directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and also have access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The Board should be composed of at least four members and
should not exceed 12 members, as determined in consultation
with the Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee,
provided that:

The following directors are also directors of other companies
listed on public stock exchanges:

•

•

Sisa Ngebulana: Rebosis Property Fund Limited
Rob Becker: Rebosis Property Fund Limited

The Board should include non-executive members who are
independent, as defined in the Code and King IV.

Tinesh Ramprusad: Astoria Investments Limited

BOARD CHARTER

The Board has adopted a charter on the terms set out below.
Board members are the link between the shareholders and the
Company and are collectively responsible to lead and control
the Company to enable it to attain its strategic objectives.
In discharging its duties, the Board should be guided by the
interests of the Company and its business and shall take into
account the interest of stakeholders.
The broad responsibilities of the Board are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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the board shall include two Mauritian resident directors
while the Company is required to meet the GBC1 licensing
requirements; and
the number of directors resident for tax purposes in
a jurisdiction other than the UK shall be less than the
number of directors solely resident in the UK for tax
purposes.

set the Company’s vision, mission and values;
determine the strategy and policy of the Company and its
subsidiaries to achieve those objectives;
monitor and evaluate the implementation of strategies,
policies and performance measurements;
exercise leadership, enterprise, integrity and judgement
in directing the Company;
identify and assess key risk areas of the business and
ensure that measures are taken to mitigate those risks;
ensure that effective internal controls systems are in
place to safeguard the Company’s assets;
ensure compliance with laws and regulations, including
risk management and corporate governance practices
and disclosure requirements;
assess auditors’ work both internal and external;
approve the annual report;
evaluate performance and review compensation of senior
management and directors;
ensure adequate succession planning;
ensure adoption of good corporate governance practices;
and
ensure effective communication with shareholders.

All members of the Board should be individuals of integrity
and, collectively, should bring a blend of knowledge, skills,
objectivity and experience to the Board to enable it to carry
out its functions effectively.
While the Board currently does not consist of a majority of
independent, non-executive directors, the Board is satisfied
that its composition reflects an appropriate mix of knowledge,
skills, experience, diversity and independence. There is a clear
balance of power and authority at board level, ensuring that
no one director has unfettered decision-making powers.
Directors are recommended to the Board by the Nominations
Committee and may be appointed by the Board or by the
Company in general meeting.
Directors’ retirement should be planned to ensure adequate
continuity i.e. there should be staggered retirement of
directors.

Chairperson
The members of the Board shall elect a non-executive
Chairperson, who must possess demonstrated expertise and
experience to provide firm and objective leadership. The
Chairperson should not be involved in the day-to-day running
of the business and should not be a full-time employee of the
Company.
The main roles of a Chairperson shall be to:
•

preside over meetings, encourage participation of
directors in Board matters and mediate differences of
opinion, provided that the Chairperson shall attend all
Board meetings in the United Kingdom and shall not have
a casting vote;
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•
•
•
•
•
•

evaluate the performance of directors collectively and
individually, through the use of questionnaires and
discussions;
guide the Board and senior management ensuring time
for consultation, preparation of agenda and minutes and
supervision of implementation of resolutions;
ensure adequate succession planning for directors and
management;
ensure that all relevant information on financial and
operating matters is placed before the Board to enable
directors to reach informed decisions;
ensure adoption of good corporate governance practices;
and
maintain relations with shareholders of the Company and
ensure that information is clearly communicated to them
through appropriate disclosure.

The Chairperson shall be appointed for a pre-approved term,
in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the Code.
The current Chairperson of the Board is not considered to be
independent and, as a result, the Board has appointed Richard
Thomas as Lead Independent Non-Executive Director with
effect from 11 January 2017.

Executive directors
The Board shall also appoint at least two executive directors
to whom some functions will be delegated. The executive
directors will have responsibility for managing the day-today business and operations of the Company. The Board will
have to appoint a Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) whose
responsibility amongst others will be to:
•
•
•
•
•

•

develop and recommend to the Board a long-term
strategy and vision for the Group that would generate
adequate shareholder value;
develop and recommend to the Board annual business
plans and budgets that support the long-term strategy of
the Group;
provide to the Board all relevant financial and operating
information to enable them to assess performance
strive to achieve the Group’s financial and operating
goals;
serve as the chief spokesman for the company on all
operational issues, further to discussion with the Board
on the division of responsibilities for communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders; and
maintain a positive and ethical work climate that is
conducive to attracting, retaining and nominating a
diverse group of top-quality employees at all levels of the
Company.

competence, qualifications and experience of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary is not a director of the
Company and maintains an arm’s length relationship with the
Board at all times.

Board committees
The Board shall have the following committees to which it can
delegate some of its duties:
•
•
•
•

Audit and Risk Committee.
Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee;
Investment Committee.
Nominations Committee.

Each committee has established Terms of Reference, which
indicate the role and responsibilities of such committee.
The composition of the committees will be reviewed
at least once a year by the Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee to ensure the balance of specialist
skills, independence and experience, in accordance with the
Company’s guidelines.
The Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee
shall assess the collective effectiveness of the committees
and the Board. In addition, the Chairperson of the Board will
individually appraise the directors.
The committees shall submit to the Board the minutes of
proceedings of their meetings.

Board meetings
The Board shall meet at least four times annually in the UK
only and meetings shall be convened by the Chairman, as
scheduled or at the request of one or more directors. Meetings
may be held by telephone or video conference, provided that
participants can hear each other simultaneously and provided
that directors resident in South Africa for tax purposes shall
not be entitled to attend the meeting by telephone or video
conference from South Africa. In the event that non-UK
resident directors are attending the meeting by telephone or
video conference, they will only be permitted to vote if there
is a quorum of UK resident directors physically present in the
UK.
The meeting will be presided by the Chairperson or in his
absence, by a director designated by the Chairperson. The
quorum shall be three directors, of which at least one must
be an executive director. No meeting of the board shall
be quorate unless a majority of directors attending that
meeting are physically present at the meeting in the UK. The
Chairperson of the meeting shall consult with the absent
members by telephone or other means whenever possible.

The CEO shall be nominated by the Nominations Committee,
with any additional executive directors nominated by the CEO.
All executive directors shall thereafter be appointed in the
manner as provided in the Company’s Constitution.

Resolutions should be preferably passed by unanimous
vote. The minutes of proceedings of each meeting shall be
approved at the following meeting as evidence that the
resolutions have been adopted.

Company Secretary

At least once a year, the non-executive directors shall meet
separately to discuss the functioning of the Board and the
executive directors, collectively as executive management and
in their individual capacity, and address any issues that arise
thereof, if any.

To ensure the smooth functioning of Board and Board
Committee meetings, the Board should appoint a Company
Secretary to:
•
•
•

assist the Chairperson of the Board with the agenda,
information gathering and other logistics;
devise induction and training programmes for the new
directors; and
keep minutes and records of the Board/Board Committee
meetings.

The Board has considered the competence, qualifications and
experience of the Company Secretary and is satisfied with the

In addition to the quarterly Board meetings set out above,
additional Board meetings should be held to consider issues
such as:
•
•
•
•
•

any issue of share capital or raising of new finance;
the acquisition of/subscription for shares;
the decision to proceed with a particular project;
the decision to acquire a particular asset;
the decision to enter into any key agreements;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

approval of budgets;
payment of dividends;
approval of accounts;
appointment of professional advisors (eg lawyers,
bankers, accountants, etc);
the disposal of investments;
the appointment and resignation of directors; and
the appointment and dismissal of agents.

Internal controls
Within the overall context of risk management, the Board
pays special attention to the Company’s internal controls. In
discharging its responsibility for the effectiveness of internal
controls during the period, the Board approach was based on
the internal control framework summarised below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clear statements of the powers and responsibility of the
Board.
The establishment of scrutinising committees, reporting
to the Board, covering key risk and operational
exposures.
Prescribed limits on the authority of the asset manager.
Ability of independent directors to provide support to
executive directors.
Effective systems for authorising investment and other
capital expenditure.
Regular review meetings with asset manager, managing
agents and other advisers, including adequacy of
reporting arrangements.
Regular independent audits.
Monthly reporting to the Board of operational forecasts
and results, with explanation of variances.
Regular review of the Company’s capital funding
requirements and debt/interest exposure.
Quarterly reporting to the Board of health, safety and
environmental matters.

The Company has not established an internal audit function,
the Board having decided that the cost of this is not
justified considering the Company’s size and the relative
simplicity of its business model. The Board considers that
the monitoring work of the Audit and Risk Committee is key
to the effectiveness of both the Company’s internal control
framework and its overall approach to the management of
risk. The Board is satisfied that the Audit and Risk Committee
discharged its responsibilities effectively during the period.

Management and control in the UK
In order to maintain the management and control of the
Company in the UK, the Board shall ensure that all key
management and commercial decisions are taken in the UK
and that the UK resident executive directors carry out the dayto-day management of the Company.

Remuneration report
Background
The Company’s remuneration philosophy is to remunerate the
directors fairly and responsibly.
In order to promote transparency, the compensation of the
directors is disclosed in the annual report. The remuneration
of directors in respect of the financial year under review was
discussed and recommended by the Corporate Governance
and Remuneration Committee to the Board and approved by
99.99% of the shareholders present and voting at the Annual
General Meeting on 26 February 2018.
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Both the remuneration policy and the remuneration
implementation report will be tabled for separate non-binding
votes at each annual general meeting of shareholders. In the
event that either the remuneration policy or the remuneration
implementation report, or both, are voted against by more
than 25% of the voting rights exercised, the Board will engage
with the dissenting shareholders to ascertain their reasons
thereto and to address all legitimate objections and concerns.
These non-binding votes enable all shareholders to express
their views on the Company’s remuneration policy and its
implementation.
Summary of remuneration policy
As the Company does not have any employees, the executive
directors are remunerated through the Company’s asset
manager, Waypoint New Frontier Ltd, the details of which
are set out in the remuneration implementation report below.
The remuneration of non-executive directors is recommended
by the Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee
for further approval by the Board and the Company’s
shareholders.
Remuneration Implementation Report
For services provided during the period 1 September 2017 to
31 August 2018, the non-executive directors, other than the
Board Chairman, each received a basic fee of GBP10 000 per
annum plus GBP1 000 for each meeting they attended. For
the Chairperson of each committee this attendance fee was
GBP2 000 per meeting. For the Chairman of the Board the
basic fee was GBP15 000 per annum. The Company does not
offer any retirement benefits to the non-executive directors.
There are no performance related measures that determine
the remuneration of directors.
The following amounts were paid by the Company as nonexecutive directors’ fees in respect of the period under review:
For services as non-executive director for the
period 1 September 2017 – 31 August 2018 (Paid
by the Company)

GBP

Sisa Ngebulana (Chairman of the Board,
Nominations Committee and Investment
Committee)

31 000.00

Andile Mazwai (former Chairman of the
Corporate Governance and Remuneration
Committee)

13 000.00

Daniel Romburgh* (former Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee)
George Titan*(Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Committee)
Richard Thomas
Tinesh Ramprusad*

3 333.33
5 833.33
23 999.99
7 500.00

William Heaney (Chairman of the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration Committee)

22 000.00

Marelise De Lange (former member of the Audit
and Risk Committee)

22 000.00

John Needham (former Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee)
TOTAL

833.33
129 499.98

*	 The remuneration of the Mauritian resident directors, Daniel Romburgh,
George Titan and Tinesh Ramprusad, is paid by the Company to Osiris
Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd, being the Company’s Company
Secretary, of which these directors are employees.
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Executive directors’ remuneration (paid by the Company’s asset manager) for the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 is
set out below:

Remuneration

Bonus

Employers
National
Insurance
Contribution

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

–

–

–

–

–

197 536

–

25 803

3 142

226 481

12 500

–

1 628

375

14 503

Pension
Contribution

TOTAL

Michael Riley
(Chief Executive Officer)
Nigel Gurkin
(Finance Director – resigned 1 August 2018)
Patrick Smith
(Finance Director – appointed 1 August 2018)

The Group did not pay any fees or benefits to directors other than the remuneration as disclosed in the table above.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors who served during the period were appointed to serve by resolutions of the Board. The directors have entered into
service contracts with the Company and accordingly the appointment of the directors is indefinite, subject to notice of three
months on either side, and remains subject to all applicable laws and the provisions of the Company’s Constitution, including
the provision that any director shall hold office only until the next annual meeting and shall then retire, but shall be eligible for
appointment at that meeting.

Conflict of interest
A director must identify potential, perceived or actual conflicts of interests between him or herself and the Company. In such
instances, the director must take such action, to the satisfaction of the Chairman, to avoid, manage and disclose the conflict which
must include a restriction to inappropriate information and his or her recusal from making decisions on the matter.

Review
The Board’s Charter may be reviewed at least once a year or as may be required, with the introduction of, or amendment to, laws,
regulations and practices.

BOARD ATTENDANCES

The table below shows directors’ attendance at Board and committee meetings during the reporting period:

Director
Marelise De Lange

Board

Corporate
Governance
and
Remuneration

Audit and Risk

Investment

Nominations

4/6

n/a

4/4

4/4

n/a

Nigel Gurkin
(resigned on 1 August 2018)

6/6

n/a

n/a

4/4

n/a

William Heaney

6/6

4/4

n/a

n/a

n/a

Andile Mazwai
(resigned on 26 April 2018)

3/6

2/4

2/4

2/4

n/a

John Needham
(resigned on 30 September 2017)

0/0

n/a

0/0

n/a

n/a

Sisa Ngebulana

5/6

n/a

n/a

4/4

3/3

Tinesh Ramprusad

3/6

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Michael Riley

6/6

4/4

n/a

4/4

3/3

Daniel Romburgh
(resigned on 14 February 2018)

3/6

2/4

2/4

n/a

n/a

Richard Thomas

6/6

n/a

4/4

n/a

n/a

George Titan
(appointed on 14 February 2018)

3/6

2/4

2/4

n/a

n/a

Patrick Smith
(appointed on 1 August 2018)

0/0

n/a

n/a

0/0

n/a
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DIRECTORS AND BOARD ASSESSMENT

The Board and the continuing directors have undergone an assessment, which did not give rise to any negative feedback and
confirmed their competence and fitness to occupy their respective positions within the Company.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

In order to effectively address the needs of the Company and to further its commitment to best practice in corporate governance,
the Board has established Corporate Governance and Remuneration, Nominations, Audit and Risk and Investment Committees.
Each of the committees has adopted its terms of reference as approved by the Board.
The Company’s corporate governance structure as at 31 August 2018 is set out as follows:

NEW FRONTIER BOARD
EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Michael Riley (CEO)
Patrick Smith (CFO)

Sisa Ngebulana (Chair)
Marelise De Lange
George Titan
Tinesh Ramprusad

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE AND
REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
William Heaney (Chair)
George Titan
Michael Riley

NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE

Richard Thomas (Lead
Independent Director)
William Heaney

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

Sisa Ngebulana (Chair)
Patrick Smith
Michael Riley
Marelise De Lange

George Titan (Chair)
Marelise De Lange
Richard Thomas

Sisa Ngebulana (Chair)
Michael Riley

22

INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
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The minutes of each committee meeting are circulated to the Board as a whole. Each committee operates within terms
of reference determined by the Board having regard to independent external guidance. The duties of each committee are
summarised below.

Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee – duties
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Formulate and recommend to the Board for approval a set of best practice corporate governance principles supporting the
Company’s strategic priorities, in accordance with the Code and King IV.
Monitor the Company’s compliance with its adopted corporate governance principles.
Review the Company’s compliance with all relevant legal and regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which the
Company operates.
Monitor potential changes in such legal and regulatory requirements to ensure that the Company is in a position to respond
appropriately to their introduction.
Ensure that the Company has in place adequate processes for reporting and responding to any material regulatory
breaches and the findings of regulatory agencies.
Keep under review the Company’s conduct and reputational risk profile, ensuring that the Company’s executives place
appropriate emphasis on the Company’s reputation as part of the key decision-making process.
Ensure that the Company has in place an adequate code of ethics and conduct regulating its dealings with investors,
clients, advisors, employees and the public generally, monitoring the effectiveness of the code on an ongoing basis.
Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and make recommendations to the Board on any area within its remit.
Produce a statement on the Company’s governance framework and its performance in relation to it for inclusion in the
Company’s annual report.
At least annually, review its constitution and terms of reference to ensure that it is operating at maximum effectiveness and
recommend any changes it considers necessary to the Board for approval.
Determine the level of non-executive and independent non-executive remuneration, review the Company’s remuneration
policy and recommend same to the Board for approval.
Be responsible for evaluating all social and ethics responsibilities and to make recommendations to the Board with regard
thereto.
Monitor the Company’s activities with regard to matters relating to:
• social and economic development (including the UN Global Compact Principles; the OECD recommendations regarding
corruption);
• good corporate citizenship: including promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, reduction of corruption,
contribution to the development of the communities in which its products or services are marketed, record of
sponsorship, donations and charitable giving;
• The environment, health and public safety, including the impact of the Company’s activities;
• consumer relationships, to the extent applicable to the Company, including the Company’s advertising, public relations
and compliance with consumer protection laws as applicable; and
• the Company’s employment relationships, and its contribution toward the educational development of its employees (if
applicable).

Audit and Risk Committee – duties
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, including reviewing the financial statements prior to
approval, including annual report and other periodic reports, results’ announcements and statements relating to financial
performance, focusing on significant financial reporting issues, major judgemental areas, significant audit adjustments,
going concern and compliance with accounting standards and securities exchange and regulatory requirements.
Monitor, and challenge where necessary, the consistency of and any changes to accounting policies, the selection of
accounting methodology for significant transactions, the application of appropriate accounting standards and the clarity of
disclosure in the Group’s financial reports, including all material supporting information.
Monitor the independence and objectivity of the auditors and make recommendations to the Board, to be put to members
for approval at the Annual General Meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the auditors
and their remuneration and overseeing the selection process for new auditors as necessary.
Consider any issues arising from the audit and any matters the auditors wish to raise.
Review the effectiveness of the audit, including the auditors’ management letter and the response of management to its
findings and recommendations.
Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, and approve the
terms on which the auditor may be engaged to supply such services.
Review the internal procedures by which employees, advisors and contractors may raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting and other matters (“whistleblowing”), to ensure that arrangements are in
place for the investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up action.
Advise the Board on the Company’s overall risk profile, tolerance and strategy, taking account of the current and
prospective macroeconomic and financial environment, and drawing on financial stability assessments such as those
published by relevant industry and regulatory authorities.
Oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the Company and future risk strategy, and prepare a risk
matrix for the Company.
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•

•

•
•
•

•

Consider and approve the remit of the risk management
function and ensure that it has: (i) adequate resources
and appropriate access to information to enable it to
perform its function effectively and in accordance with
the relevant professional standards; and (ii) adequate
independence and is free from management and other
restrictions.
Review promptly all risk management reports on the
Company and review and monitor management’s
responsiveness to findings and recommendations
contained in such reports (whether formal or informal).
Ensure that the risk management function is provided
with unfettered direct access to the committee and the
Chairman of the Board.
Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and
make recommendations to the Board on any area within
its remit.
Produce an annual formal report on the Company’s
risk management objectives, policy and management
framework for inclusion in the Company’s annual report,
including in relation to financial instruments.
At least annually, review its constitution and terms
of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum
effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers
necessary to the Board for approval.

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Review, at least annually, the Company’s overall
investment strategy and the appropriateness of
the Company’s current investment portfolio to the
achievement of the Company’s investment objectives and
established risk profile.
Formulate, for approval by the Board and subsequent
application by the Committee, a framework and
procedures for the consideration of individual investment
proposals.
Review, challenge and approve (as appropriate)
investment strategy proposals brought to its attention.
Review the operational efficiency of the Company’s
investment management arrangements, including both
internal and external resources.
Review the performance of the Company’s investment
assets, in absolute terms and relative to relevant
benchmarks.
Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and
make recommendations to the Board on any area within
its remit.
Produce a statement on the Company’s investment
objectives, policy and management framework for
inclusion in the Company’s annual report.
Oversee any investigation of activities which are within its
terms of reference.
Arrange for periodic reviews of its own performance
and, at least annually, review its constitution and terms
of reference to ensure that it is operating at maximum
effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers
necessary to the Board for approval.

The Board is of the view that the Audit and Risk Committee
has satisfied its responsibilities for the period, in compliance
with its terms of reference.

•

The Audit and Risk Committee has considered and is satisfied
with the overall appropriateness of the finance function’s
resources, experience and expertise as well as the specific
experience and expertise of the finance director, who is
responsible for the financial function. The Audit and Risk
Committee is further satisfied that the appropriate financial
reporting procedures are in place and are operating.

Nominations Committee – duties

BDO Mauritius was appointed and has remained the external
auditor since 2016. The Audit and Risk Committee has
assessed the independence, expertise and objectivity of
BDO as the external auditor. The committee has received
confirmation from the external auditor that the partners
and staff responsible for the audit comply with all legal
and professional requirements with regard to rotation and
independence.
In accordance with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings
Requirements, the Audit and Risk Committee has assessed
the suitability of both the Company’s audit firm and the
designated individual partner and are satisfied with their
suitability for appointment, as well as their independence.
During the year, the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Committee has met with the external auditors without the
presence of management.
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Investment Committee – duties

•

•

•
•

The Audit and Risk Committee assesses the requirement of an
internal audit function on a quarterly basis. The committee is
of the opinion that the Company does not require a separate
internal audit function yet based on the nature and volume
of transactions involved. The role of internal audit is currently
undertaken by the finance team. The last review date was
5 July 2018.

•

While the Audit and Risk Committee currently does not
consist of only independent, non-executive directors, the
Board is satisfied that the members are able to exercise
independent oversight.

•

•
•
•

•

Ensure the establishment of a formal process for the
appointment of directors, having regard to relevant
regulatory requirements and the Company’s corporate
governance principles, including:
– identification of suitable members of the board;
– performance of reference and background checks of
candidates prior to nomination; and
– finalising the appointment of directors through an
agreement between the Company and the director.
Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of new executive and non-executive directors, including
recommendations on the composition of the Board in
general regarding the balance between executive and
non-executive directors appointed to the Board.
Review board structure, size and composition and make
recommendations to the Board where necessary with
regard to any adjustments deemed necessary.
Identify and nominate candidates for approval of the
Board to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise, as
well as put in place plans for succession.
Ensure that the Managing Director or his equivalent has
succession plans in place.
Recommend to the Board for continuation (or not) in
service of any director who has reached the age of 70.
Recommend directors who are retiring by rotation, for
re-election.
Recommend directors to the committees and
recommend their tenure.
Oversee the development of a formal induction
programme for new directors.
Consider the performance of directors and take steps
to remove directors who do not make an appropriate
contribution.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board retains overall responsibility for risk management and for the definition of Company’s overall risk strategy and
tolerance, having considered the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee. The key financial risks are set out in the
financial statements. The Company’s policy on risk management encompasses all significant business risks as described below.

Investment restrictions
The Company’s investment policies do not prohibit certain investment techniques such as concentration of investments in a small
number of companies or sectors that may entail significant risks.

Political and/or regulatory risks
The value of the Company’s assets may be affected by uncertainties such as international political developments, changes in
government policies, changes in taxation, restrictions on foreign investment and currency repatriation, currency fluctuations
and other developments in the laws and regulations of countries in which investment may be made. Furthermore, the legal
infrastructure and accounting, auditing and reporting standards in certain countries in which investment may be made may not
provide the same degree of investor protection or information to investors as would generally apply in major securities markets.

Specific commercial property risks
Although over the long-term property is often considered a low risk asset, investors must be aware that significant short- and
medium-term risk factors are inherent in the asset class.

Number of assets
As at the date of this document, the Company owns four property assets. The Company intends to mitigate any risks arising from
this relatively small number through its programme of investment in further suitable properties.
The Board, with the advice of the Audit and Risk Committee, conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of its
risk management regime. In doing so, the Board considers the key findings of the Audit and Risk Committee and any
recommendations of the Company’s auditors arising from the ongoing monitoring and reporting processes and management
reports. The review also takes account of material changes and trends in the Company’s risk profile and considers whether the
control regime, including reporting, adequately supports the Board in achieving its risk management objectives. The Board is
satisfied that the risk management process is ongoing and has been operational during the reporting period.
The Board’s approach to risk management adopts to the framework set out below:
RISK

IMPACT

MITIGATION STRATEGIES

•

•

Property risks
Property investment market risks
Weakening economic conditions and
poor sentiment in commercial real estate
markets could lead to low investor
demand and an adverse movement in
valuation and distributions

•

Small changes in property market
yields can have a significant effect
on valuation
Impact of leverage could magnify
the effect on the Company’s net
assets

•

Monitoring of indicators of market
direction and forward planning of
investment decisions
Review of debt levels and
consideration of strategies to reduce
if relevant

Impact of the economic environment
•
•

Tenant insolvency or distress
Prolonged downturn in tenant
demand and pressure on rent levels

Tenant failures and reduced tenant
demand could adversely affect rental
income, lease incentive, void costs, cash
and ultimately property valuation and
distributions

•
•
•
•
•

Diversified tenant base
Review of tenant covenants before
new leases signed
Long-term leases and active credit
control process
Good relationships with, and active
management of, tenants
Void management though temporary
lettings and other mitigation
strategies

Threat from the internet
The trend towards online shopping may
adversely impact consumer footfall in
shopping centres

A change in consumer shopping habits
towards online purchasing and delivery
may reduce footfall and therefore
potentially reduce tenant demand and
the levels of rents which can be achieved

•
•
•
•
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Strong location and dominance of
shopping centres
Provision of ‘Click & Collect’ within
our centres
Monitoring of footfall for evidence of
negative trends
Monitoring of retail trends and
shopping behaviour
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RISK

IMPACT

MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Concentration and scale risk
•
•

By having a less diversified portfolio,
the business is more exposed to
specific tenants or types of tenant
Smaller size of the business may
reduce purchasing power

•
•

Tenant failures could have a greater
•
impact on rental income
Reduced purchasing power could
impact the ability to drive economies •
of scale and the feasibility of certain
investment decisions regarding the
•
operating platform

Regular monitoring of retail
environment and performance of key
tenants
Maintaining flexibility in operating
platform
Further diversification considered
through acquisitions or joint ventures

Competition risk
The threat to the Company’s property
assets of competing in town and out of
town retail and leisure schemes

Competing schemes may reduce footfall •
and reduce tenant demand for space and
the levels of rents which can be achieved •
•
•

Monitoring of new planning
proposals
Close relationships with local
councils and willingness to support
town centres
Ensure the Company’s schemes are
high quality
Investment in traditional and digital
marketing

Funding and treasury risks
Liquidity and funding
Inability to fund the business or to
refinance existing debt on economic
terms when needed

•
•
•

Inability to meet financial obligations •
when due
Limitation on financial and
•
operational flexibility
Cost of financing could be
prohibitive
•

Ensuring that there are significant
undrawn facilities
Efficient treasury management and
forecasting with regular reporting to
the Board
Option of asset sales if necessary

Covenant compliance risks
Breach of any loan covenants causing
default on debt and possible accelerated
maturity

Unremedied breaches can trigger
•
demand for immediate repayment of loan
•

Regular monitoring and projections
of liquidity, gearing and covenant
compliance
Review of future cash flows and
predicted valuations to ensure
sufficient headroom

Interest rate exposure risks
Exposure to rising or falling interest rates

•

•

If interest rates rise and are
•
unhedged, the cost of debt facilities
can rise and Interest Cover Ratio
covenants could be broken
Hedging transactions used by the
•
Company to minimise interest rate
risk may limit gains, result in losses or
have other adverse consequences

Regular monitoring of the
performance of derivative contracts
and corrective action taken where
necessary
Use of alternative hedges such as
caps

Potential loss of income or value
resulting in lower cash flow and
property valuation
Reputational damage negatively
impacting investor market
perception

Management of projects and the
individual shopping centres by
experienced and skilled professionals
Strong relationships with retailers
and relevant contractors/suppliers
Ongoing monitoring of performance
against plan and key milestones

Other risks
Execution of business plan
Failure to execute business plan in line
with internal and external expectations

•
•
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RISK

IMPACT

MITIGATION STRATEGIES

•

•

Property acquisition/disposal strategy
•
•

Exposure to risks around
overpayment for acquisitions
Portfolio not effectively managed
through the investment cycle,
with sales and deleveraging at the
appropriate time

•
•

Overpayment may result in
acquisitions not delivering forecast
returns
The Company may not be able to
take advantage of other investment
opportunities as they arise
Covenants may move adversely
when the cycle changes

•
•

Regular monitoring of the property
market and the use of professional
advisers
Bank finance scrutiny
Impact of cycle reflected in business
planning

Tax risks
•
•

•

Tax related liabilities and other losses
Exposure to changes in tax
legislation or the interpretation of tax could arise
legislation
Potential exposure to tax liabilities in
respect of transactions undertaken
where the tax authorities disagree
with the tax treatment adopted
Cross-border tax risks between the
counties in which we own companies

•
•
•

Expert advice taken on tax positions
and other regulations
Maintenance of a regular dialogue
with the tax authorities
Long standing double taxation
treaties in place between countries

Regulation risks
Exposure to changes in existing or
forthcoming property related or
corporate regulation with the different
countries in which we hold assets

Failure to comply could result in financial
penalties, loss of business or credibility

•

Loss of key individuals or an inability
to attract new employees with the
appropriate expertise could reduce the
effectiveness with which the Company
conducts its business

•

•

Management undertakes training to
keep aware of regulatory changes
Expert advice taken on complex
regulatory matters

Loss of key management
Dependence of the business on the skills
of a small number of key individuals

Key management are paid market
salaries and offered competitive
incentive packages to ensure their
retention within the asset manager

Currency fluctuations
The assets of the Company may be
invested substantially in securities
whereby the income and proceeds of
which will be received in currencies other
than GBP
Political and/or regulatory risks
The value of the Company’s assets may
Dividends or capital could become
be affected by uncertainties such as
trapped in the country through which it
international political developments,
is passing
changes in government policies, changes
in taxation, restrictions on foreign
investment and currency repatriation,
currency fluctuations and other
developments in the laws and regulations
of countries in which investment
may be made. Furthermore, the legal
infrastructure and accounting, auditing
and reporting standards in certain
countries in which investment may be
made may not provide the same degree
of investor protection or information to
investors as would generally apply in
major securities markets.
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We only use well-regulated stock
exchanges and invest in countries with
established legal systems
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RISK

IMPACT

MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Suspension or termination of the
company’s listing

Active monitoring by corporate sponsors
and company secretary

Governance
Non-compliance with legislation e.g. JSE
and SEM requirements
Reputational risks
Adverse events or publicity may cause
reputational damage

•
•

Loss of investor confidence and
Regular communication with
share price volatility
stakeholders
Reduced shopper footfall of demand
from tenants

Skills and systems
Information technology (“IT”) failure

•
•

Loss of revenue as a result of loss of
data
Impact on the company’s reputation
in the event that the data is not
recovered promptly

•

•
•

Failure of the IT system to adequately
address the business framework and
processes

Inability to customise the software to
meet all the needs of the company

•
•

Data held in third-party data
warehouse with multiple data copies
maintained at all times in different
locations
Support of appropriately skilled IT
resources
Firewalls and ransomware protection
installed and regularly updated
Regularly assess the appropriateness
and sustainability of the systems
suppliers
Periodic review of alternative
systems

Operational
Major health and safety incident –
Accidents causing injury to employee,
contractors, occupiers and visitors to our
properties.

•

Security threat or attack – Failure to
identify or prevent a major security
related threat or attack or react
immediately and effectively

Loss of consumer confidence with
consequent impact on new lettings,
renewal of existing leases and rental
growth and loss of income

•

Criminal or civil proceedings and
resultant reputational damage
Delays to building projects and can
restrict access to shopping centres

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Regular board reporting
Dedicated specialist personnel
Annual cycle of health and safety
audits
Established policy and procedures
Dedicated property security teams
supported by CCTV and other
physical security measures
Experienced property management
teams
Regular onsite and national training
Group insurance programme
protects against losses of rent and
service charge due to terrorism
Business continuity and crisis
management practice

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management framework against the principal risks facing the business
on an annual basis, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee and taking account of recommendations from the
Company’s auditors.
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CONSTITUTION

INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

The address of the Company’s registered office is: B45
Twenty-Foot Road, 5th Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie,
Mauritius.

Ethical approach to business conduct

The Company was incorporated in Mauritius on 5 June 2014
under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and is domiciled in
Mauritius. The Company holds a Category 1 Global Business
Licence and is regulated by the Financial Services Commission
of Mauritius.

The Company’s operational and executive management office
is located at: 2nd Floor, 86 Brook Street, London W1K 5AY,
United Kingdom.
The Company’s objects are to carry out business activities
relating to real estate. There are no material clauses in the
Company’s Constitution.

KEY DATES

The current financial year ends on 31 August 2019.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Any related party transactions are carried out on an arm’s
length basis and are disclosed in the financial statements.
Please refer to note 26.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT
AFFECTING THE GOVERNANCE OF THE
COMPANY
There was no such agreement during the reporting period.

THIRD-PARTY MANAGEMENT
AGREEMENT

In March 2015, the Company entered into an asset
management agreement with Waypoint New Frontier Limited
(“Waypoint”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Waypoint Asset
Management Limited, a property investment advisor and
property asset manager based in the United Kingdom. Under
the terms of the agreement Waypoint provides property
transaction and asset management services in relation to the
Company’s property investments in return for fees payable by
the Company.

DONATIONS

The Company did not make any donations during the
reporting period.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION

Subject always to regulatory restrictions, the Board aims to
comprehensively understand and meet the information needs
of all shareholders and places great importance on open and
meaningful dialogue with all investors. The Board ensures
that shareholders are kept informed on matters affecting the
Company and open lines of communication are maintained
as appropriate to ensure transparency and optimal disclosure.
All Board members are requested to attend the Company’s
annual general meetings.

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

The Company has no employees and accordingly there are no
employee share schemes.

The Company recognises that its operations and property
assets are key elements of the communities in which they are
located, in which economic, social and environmental issues
are inter-related. The Company recognises the non-financial
imperatives that this gives rise to, as set out below.

Code of ethics:
The Company is committed to the highest standards
of integrity and ethical conduct in dealing with all its
stakeholders. The Company’s code of ethical conduct has
been adopted to give effect to the Company’s core values and
to guide the Company’s relationships with all its stakeholders
and other relevant role-players as well as to outline the
Company’s commitments to them.
The code of ethical conduct will also be applied to establish
the suitability of all prospective directors, managers,
employees, independent contractors, agents, service providers
and business partners irrespective of their status as natural
person, legal person or other entity, prior to their appointment
by the Company.
All persons who act on behalf of the Company are therefore
required to behave and transact business in accordance with
the highest professional standards. Besides adhering to the
Company’s code of ethical conduct, they will be expected to
comply at all times with the regulations of any professional
bodies to which they are affiliated.
The code of ethical conduct is reviewed by the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration Committee on an annual basis.
The Board is not aware of any transgressions of the code
during the period.
The Company’s core values include:
•
•
•
•
•

integrity in business dealings;
excellence in Professional Standards;
commitment and drive in delivering enterprise value;
compassion for people and the environment; and
teamwork.

The Company strives to observe strictly national and
international legislation and to ensure that all agreements,
conduct and procedures comply with all applicable laws,
codes of best practice as well as the Company’s own policies
and procedures.
Any payment or granting of valuable advantages to persons
employed by customers or payments to any other persons
not employed, including public officers paid with the intention
to obtain an advantage, will be considered a violation of
Company policy, irrespective of applicable local law.
Similarly, no director, manager or employee of the Company
may at any time receive or give any entertainment or gifts to
and from current or potential customers, suppliers or other
parties of any material amount such that it could influence the
ability to make an independent decision in the sole interest of
the Company.
The Company is committed to the maintenance of a healthy
and productive work environment, complies with all applicable
health and safety regulations and expects its advisers and
contractors to do likewise. During the year, the Company
arranged for independent experts to carry out separate fire
safety and general health and safety inspections at each of its
properties. The reports produced were made available to the
Board and action taken to comply with the recommendations
which they contained.
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their workers and the public over all other considerations, as
well as to carry out all appropriate safety and environmental
monitoring. All our property development activities will be
carried out in a manner which seeks to minimise the impact
on the community and the environment generally, and we will
seek to apply all relevant energy saving and noise reduction
standards.

The Company endeavours to promote a culture of openness
and transparency throughout the Company and stakeholders
are encouraged to report unethical conduct and other
transgressions of which they become aware.

Environment
It is the intention of the Company to support a precautionary
approach to environmental challenges, to undertake initiatives
to promote greater environmental responsibility and to
encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally
friendly technologies. The Company will comply with all
environment protection legislation, as well as all relevant
statutory and local government legislation and any licences,
permissions and consents required under any legislation
in all the jurisdictions in which it operates, including the
Environment Protection Act 2002 (as amended) of Mauritius.

Gender Diversity Policy
The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse
Board and has implemented a Gender Diversity Policy to
support this. The Company sees increasing diversity at Board
level as an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and make
good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other distinctions
between directors. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the Board and
when possible should be balanced appropriately. All Board
appointments are made on merit, in the context of the skills,
experience, independence and knowledge which the Board as
a whole requires to be effective.

As part of the Company’s Environmental Mission Statement,
it recognises its obligations as a property owner to operate
its business in an environmentally responsible way and aims
to ensure that, not only does the Company comply with all
applicable legal, regulatory and corporate requirements,
but that its advisors, managing agents and contracts adopt
stringent standard for the protection of the environment and
the communities with whom the Company cooperates.

The Board currently comprises one female and seven males.
The Board is satisfied that this meets its aim to ensure that
at least 10% of the Board is made up of women by the end of
2018. However, the Company’s future director appointments
will be considered with due emphasis on the benefits of its
gender diversity policy.

Corporate and Social Responsibility
The Company recognises its obligations towards all its
stakeholders, including the local communities in which it
operates. When working at our properties, we expect our
advisers and contractors to prioritise the health and safety of

SHARE PRICE INFORMATION

The price of the Company’s shares during the reporting period is set out below (in GBP (pence) and ZAR (cents)).
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DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

The Company indemnifies its directors in respect of their activities on behalf of the Company and procures appropriate directors
and officers insurance cover.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY’S SHARES

As at the date of this report, Sisa Ngebulana held indirectly 89 954 shares in the capital of the Company, representing 0.06% of
the Company’s stated capital. No shares were acquired in the capital of the Company in the financial year ended 31 August 2018.
No other director had an interest in the Company’s shares. There have been no other changes in director shareholdings between
31 August 2018 and the date of approval of the annual financial statements.
The directors will follow the principles on the model code on securities transactions as set out in Appendix 6 of the SEM Listing
Rules and the JSE Listings Requirements provisions on directors’ dealings.

AUDITORS’ FEES

The fees paid to the auditors, for audit and other services were:
GROUP

COMPANY

Period from
1 September
2017 to
31 August 2018
GBP

Period from
1 September
2016 to
31 August 2017
GBP

Period from
1 September
2017 to
31 August 2018
GBP

Period from
1 September
2016 to
31 August 2017
GBP

66 216

121 244

12 994

21 870

288 873

373 502

288 873

93 296

Audit fees to:
– BDO & Co
Fees for other services provided by:
– BDO & Co

Other services relate to advisory services in relation to tax compliance fees, property transaction related tax fees, corporate
finance fees and fees for review of quarterly abridged financial statements.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
The Board of New Frontier is pleased to present the
Integrated Annual Report of the Company and of the Group
for the year ended 31 August 2018, contents of which are listed
below.
This report was approved by the Board on 7 December 2018.

Mr Tinesh Sharma Ramprusad

Mr George Titan

Director

Director

7 December 2018
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SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
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Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited
Company Secretary
7 December 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
AT 31 AUGUST 2018

To the Shareholders of New Frontier Properties Ltd

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Qualified opinion – going concern

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Frontier Properties Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group) and
the Company’s separate financial statements on pages 39 to 75 which comprise the statements of financial position as at
31 August 2018, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the financial
statements on pages 39 to 75 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 August
2018, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001.

Basis for qualified opinion
We draw attention to note 2.1.2 to the financial statements, which indicates that two subsidiaries of the group are in breach of the
covenant contained in their respective bank loan agreement. The subsidiaries are dependent on the continued financial support
of its lenders. This indicates the existence of a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Mauritius, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1.

The Group – Investment Properties
Key audit matter
As at 31 August 2018, the Group had investment properties amounting to £193.3M. The significance of investment properties
on the statement of financial position resulted in them being identified as a key audit matter.
Related disclosures
Refer to note 7 of the accompanying financial statements.
Audit response
The following tests were performed:
•

The key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment properties were tested through the following:
•

Assessed the competence, independence and integrity of the external valuers.

•

Determined the accuracy of data provided to the valuers.

•

Obtained the external valuation reports and discussed with the external valuers about the valuation process and
the results of their work. The basis of valuation were reviewed and assessed and analysis work were performed
on the valuations by reference to external third party valuation reports, industry market data as well as a sample
of inputs from rental income data. Areas of judgements and assumptions applied to the valuation model were
discussed, including rental yields, occupancy rates and level of capital expenditure required for refurbishment.

•

Detailed procedures were undertaken to prove the completeness of the revenue based on occupation and lease
agreements. Where there were significant movements between reporting periods, these were challenged and
explanations together with corroborating evidence sought.

•

A number of tenant agreements were tested on a sample basis to ensure that these agreed with the revenue
recorded and that lease incentives were appropriately treated.
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2.

The Group – Revenue Recognition
Key Audit Matter
The Group’s revenue is mainly from rental income. Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of
the lease, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises. Incentives for lessees to enter into lease
agreements is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term even if payments are not made on such a basis. We
focused on this area due to its significance on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and risk
attached to the timing of revenue recognition.
Audit Response

3.

•

Detailed procedures were undertaken to prove the completeness of the revenue based on occupation and lease
agreements. Where there were significant movements between reporting periods, these were challenged and
explanations together with corroborating evidence sought.

•

A number of tenant agreements were tested on a sample basis to ensure that these agreed with the revenue
recorded and that lease incentives were appropriately treated.

The Company – Investments in subsidiaries and loans receivable from
related parties
Key Audit Matter
At 31 August 2018, investments in and loans from subsidiaries amounted to £33.7M. Investments in subsidiaries are carried
at cost, less impairment. Loans receivable from related parties are carried at fair value. The amounts are significant to the
Company’s financial statements and thus considered as a key audit matter.
Related Disclosures
Refer to notes 6 and 10 of the accompanying financial statements.
Audit Response
•

The impairment of the investments and loans were assessed with regards to underlying valued assets of the
subsidiaries, being the property holding companies.

•

The recoverability of the balances were assessed and discussed with management based on management’s
knowledge of future conditions that may impact expected receipts.

Other information
Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the information included in
the annual report (but does not include the Corporate Governance report, the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon)
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
When we read the other information, which will be made available to us after the date of our auditors’ report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance.
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Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s
internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group and the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in our capacity as auditors and
dealings in the ordinary course of business.
Except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, we have obtained all
information and explanations we have required.
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of those
records.

Financial Reporting Act 2004
The Directors are responsible for preparing the corporate governance report. Our responsibility is to report the extent of
compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in the annual report and on whether the disclosure is consistent
with the requirements of the Code.
In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

Other matter
This report is made solely to the members of New Frontier Properties Ltd (the “Company”), as a body, in accordance with Section
205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

BDO & Co

Rookaya Ghanty, FCCA

Chartered Accountants

Licensed by FRC

Port Louis, Mauritius
7 December 2018
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 AUGUST 2018

THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

Notes

£000

£000

£000

£000

Property, plant and equipment

5

15

17

15

17

Investments in subsidiary companies

6

–

–

–

52 938

Investment property

7

193 288

264 800

–

–

Derivative financial instrument

8

1 103

–

–

–

194 406

264 817

15

52 955

31 August

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Loan to related parties
Cash and cash equivalents

9

5 179

6 091

951

4 891

10

–

–

33 658

62 525

11

3 471

5 510

118

769

8 650

11 601

34 727

68 185

203 056

276 418

34 742

121 140

39 412

47 136

39 412

Total assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves
(attributable to owners of the parent)
Share capital

12

47 136
(915)

Hedging reserve

(3 330)

–

–

(23 102)

63 678

(24 016)

76 422

23 119

99 760

23 120

115 834

13

143 581

159 112

–

–

8

–

300

–

–

143 581

159 412

–

–

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Owner’s interest
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

5 000

5 508

1 490

1 268

Borrowings

13

31 356

11 738

10 132

4 038

36 356

17 246

11 622

5 306

179 937

176 658

11 622

5 306

203 056

276 418

34 742

121 140

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 43 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 35 to 38.
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board on 7 December 2018.

Mr Tinesh Sharma Ramprusad

Mr George Titan

Director

Director
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
THE GROUP

Notes

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

17 521

19 279

–

–

–

–

5 500

13 050

31 August

Revenue
Rental income
Dividend income
Expenses
Property operating expenses

(3 395)

(1 895)

(1 243)

Administrative expenses

(2 555)

(1 432)

(1 622)

(1 129)
(8 701)

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

6

Impairment of loans to subsidiaries
Movement in foreign exchange

–

–

(52 938)

–

–

(39 428)

–

(16)

–

(6)

–

21

Other income
Fair value loss on investment property

7

(80 835)
(69 259)

Finance costs

15

(Loss)/profit before tax
Taxation

16

(Loss)/profit for the year

–

(7 201)

99
(10 046)
6 005
(5 847)

(76 460)

158

(21)

84

(76 481)

242

21

27

–

–

(89 716)
(423)
(90 139)
–
(90 139)

3 247
(38)
3 209
–
3 209

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Fair value gain on derivative financial
instruments

1 404

2 284

–

–

Other comprehensive income for the year

1 404

2 284

–

–

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(75 077)

2 526

(90 139)

3 209

(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (GBP)

17

(0.482)

0.002

–

–

Headline earnings per share (GBP)

17

0.027

0.067

–

–

The notes on pages 43 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 35 to 38.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Retained
earnings/

Notes

Share

Hedging

capital

reserve

£000

£000

39 412

(3 330)

(Accumulated
losses)

Total

£000

£000

63 678

99 760

(76 481)

(76 481)

THE GROUP
Balance at 1 September 2017
Loss for the year

–

–

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

1 404

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

1 404

Issue of shares
Dividends

27

Waiver of dividends

27

7 724

–

–

–

–
(76 481)
–
(10 327)

1 404
(75 077)
7 724
(10 327)

–

–

28

28

–

1 011

–

1 011

7 724

1 011

(10 299)

(1 564)

Balance at 31 August 2018

47 136

(915)

(23 102)

23 119

Balance at 1 September 2016

124 412

(5 614)

(10 051)

108 747

Amortisation of historic cash flow hedge reserve
Total transactions with owners of the parent

Profit for the year

–

–

242

242

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

2 284

–

2 284

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

2 284

242

2 526

–

85 000

Capital reduction

(85 000)

Dividends

27

–

–

Waiver of dividends

27

–

–

98

–

73 487

Total transactions with owners of the parent

(85 000)

Balance at 31 August 2017

39 412

(3 330)

(11 611)

–
(11 611)
98
(11 513)

63 678

99 760

THE COMPANY
Balance at 1 September 2017

39 412

–

76 422

115 834

Profit for the year

–

–

(90 139)

(90 139)

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

(90 139)

(90 139)

7 724

–

Dividends

27

–

–

Waiver of dividends

27

–

–

–

–

(10 299)

(2 575)

Balance at 31 August 2018

47 136

–

(24 016)

23 120

Balance at 1 September 2016

124 412

–

(274)

124 138

Profit for the year

–

–

3 209

3 209

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

3 209

3 209

–

85 000

Issue of shares

Total transactions with owners of the parent

Capital reduction

(85 000)

–
(10 327)
28

Dividends

27

–

–

Waiver of dividends

27

–

–

98

(85 000)

–

73 487

39 412

–

76 422

Total transactions with owners of the parent
Balance at 31 August 2017

(11 611)

7 724
(10 327)
28

–
(11 611)
98
(11 513)
115 834

The notes on pages 43 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 35 to 38.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

THE GROUP

Notes

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

11 837

16 375

(1 710)

(2 063)

146

217

31 August

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash from operations

18(a)

Tax refunded
Interest paid
Net cash from operating activities

(4 755)

(5 411)

7 228

11 181

–

–

–

–

(1 710)

(2 063)

Cash flows from investing activities
(8 150)

Addition to investment property

(1 132)

Capital improvements to investment property

–
(2 258)

–

–

–

–
13 050

Dividend income

–

–

5 500

Interest received

–

5

–

Loan advanced to related parties

–

–

Net cash used in investing activities

–

(6 942)

(3 286)

(9 282)

(2 253)

(1 442)

9 764

12 800

7 500

12 800

4 000

–

–

–

(14)

–

–

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans

(1 783)

Repayment of borrowings

(695)

Payment of borrowings cost

–

Premium paid to reset interest rate swap

(10 299)

Dividend payment
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

23

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents for the year
Exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year
At 31 August 2018

11

(3 030)
(11 513)
(7 057)

–
(10 299)
2 501

–
(11 513)
(7 513)

(2 031)

1 871

(8)

–

(651)
–

–

5 510

3 639

769

581

3 471

5 510

118

769

188

During the year ended 31 August 2018, a non-cash transaction occurred. A shareholder loan of £7 723 214 was converted into
equity and shares were issued for that amount.
The notes on pages 43 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 35 to 38.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in Mauritius on 5 June 2014 under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 as a private company
limited by shares and is domiciled in Mauritius. On the same day, the Company was, by a Special Resolution, converted into
a public company. It holds a Category 1 Global Business Licence and is regulated by the Financial Services Commission.
The address of its registered office is C/o Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited, 5th Floor, La Croisette,
Grand Baie, Mauritius.
New Frontier was established to carry out any business activities relating to real estate including but without limitation,
investment development, operation leasing and management of real estate assets. The Company listed on the SEM on
28 November 2014 and on the AltX on 21 January 2015. During 2016, the Company converted its listing on the AltX from
a secondary listing to a primary listing.
The Group entered into the United Kingdom-REIT regime with effect from 21 October 2015. In this regard:
•

the Company transferred its management and control from Mauritius to the United Kingdom;

•

the Company made certain amendments to its Constitution; and

•

certain changes were made to the Board.

On 30 September 2018, the Group elected to leave the United Kingdom REIT regime as it had not met its requirement of
having a diversified investor base.
As from 1 October 2018, the Group is liable to United Kingdom tax on its property investments located in the United
Kingdom. There is no intention to transfer the Company’s management and control from the United Kingdom.
The consolidated financial statements include the separate financial statements of the holding company (the Company) and
the consolidated financial statements of the holding company and its subsidiaries (the Group).
These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
shareholders of the Company.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of New Frontier comply with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules, the
JSE Listing Requirements and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”).
The financial statements are presented to the nearest thousand and all values are in £000, except where
otherwise stated.
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that investment property is
carried at fair value and relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at fair value.
2.1.1

Income and statement of cash flows
The Group has elected to present a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
presents its expenses by nature. The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect
method. Interest received is presented within investing cash flows; interest paid is presented within operating
cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as cash flows from investing activities
because this most appropriately reflects the Group’s business activities.

2.1.2

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation
of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary
course of business.
In determining whether the Group is a going concern the directors have considered secured debt of two of
its subsidiaries with lenders that falls due for repayment in July 2020 and October 2022
In respect of one of the subsidiary company, the loan facility agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) contains
certain ongoing obligations, including a loan to value (“LTV”) covenant. The Loan Agreement also sets the
amortisation levels depending upon the LTV levels. During the period of the loan, the LTV is not permitted
to be above 70% of the debt. The Loan Agreement permits the lender to call for a valuation at any time.
The property value received by the Company for the purposes of these financial statements valued the
Company’s investment property at £125 million. This value indicates that the LTV would be 85% and the
covenant maybe breached. In the event that the LTV covenant increases above 70%, the Loan Agreement
allows the Company to ‘cure’ the potential event of default by repaying an amount to the lender to reduce
the LTV to 70% within 20 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.1

Basis of preparation continued
2.1.2

Going concern continued
The subsidiary company has received an Amendment and Reservation of Rights letter from the Lender
dated 2 November 2018. In this letter they advise the subsidiary company that they are aware of the fall in
property values, that a payment to cure the LTV covenant will not be made and they will consider the loan
will be in default at the end of the period permitted to cure. However, they also advise that it is not currently
their intention to enforce their rights nor take any immediate action in respect of the default. As such the
Directors are confident that the loan will not be called in and have prepared the financial statements of the
subsidiary company on a going concern basis.
It is also to be noted that another subsidiary has pledged its property towards the above mentioned loan.
For another subsidiary company the loan facility agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) also contains
certain ongoing obligations, including a loan to value (“LTV”) covenant. The Loan Agreement also sets the
amortisation levels depending upon the LTV levels. During the period of the loan, the LTV is not permitted to
be above 75% of the debt.
The property value obtained by the directors for the purposes of these financial statements, received on
15 November 2018, valued the Group’s investment property at £70.2m as at 31 August 2018. This value
indicates that the LTV would be 85% and the covenant may be breached. In the event that the LTV covenant
increases above 75%, the Loan Agreement allows the Group to ‘cure’ the potential event of default by
repaying an amount to the lender to reduce the LTV to 75% within 10 days. These financial statements have
provided an amount of £7 500 000 as repayable within one year in respect of that loan being the expected
amount to bring the LTV to 75%, together with the corresponding amortisation levels.
The directors have received a letter from the lenders dated 23 November 2018 stating that, in accordance
with the terms of the Loan Agreement and the last property valuation report addressed to the lender
dated 8 October 2018 (a copy of which has not been made available to the directors) the LTV is 89.1%. In
accordance with the Loan Agreement, the Group has 10 days from 23 November 2018 to cure the breach
otherwise the loan will be in default (and therefore become repayable on demand). If this occurs, the lender
has advised that all surplus cash after the payment of interest will be retained and ‘trapped’ by the lender.
The matters disclosed above for the two subsidiary companies indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore that they may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities
in the normal course of business.
The directors are in discussion with the lenders as regards ongoing trading of the Group’s property assets.
In the event that the banks call in the loans, the directors would then be forced to obtain funding from other
sources or sell the property and the proceeds used to repay the loan. The Directors are confident that the
loans will not be called in at this time and that they will be able to discharge their liabilities as they fall due
and have therefore prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. No adjustments have been
to the financial statements should the going concern basis cease to be appropriate.

2.1.3

Amendments to published Standards effective in the reporting period
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12). The amendments clarify
the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the
asset’s tax base. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.
Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7). The amendments require the entity to explain changes in its
liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising from cash flows (e.g. drawdowns and
repayments of borrowings) and non-cash changes such as acquisitions, disposals, accretion of interest and
unrealised exchange differences. A reconciliation of the opening and closing carrying amounts for each item
for which cash flows have been or would be classified as operating activities is presented in note 13(a).
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. The amendments clarify that entities are not exempt
from all of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 when entities have been classified as held for sale or as
discontinued operations. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.
Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued that are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 or later periods, but which the
Group/Company has not early adopted.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.1

Basis of preparation continued
2.1.3

Amendments to published Standards effective in the reporting period continued
At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective:
•

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

•

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

•

IFRS 16 Leases

•

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

•

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2)

•

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 4)

•

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

•

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

•

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)

•

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

•

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

•

Prepayment Features with negative compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)

•

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)

•

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

•

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)

Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, Amendments to published
Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
Assessment of impact of published Standards not yet effective
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets.
The Group has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities and is expecting the following impact from the
adoption of the new standard.
(i)

Classification – Financial assets and liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost,
FVOCI and FVTPL. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and
receivables and available for sale. At 31 August 2018 the Group held no equity investments classified as
available for sale and so IFRS 9 will have no impact on this financial asset category.
There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and
the Group does not have any such liabilities. The derecognition rules have been transferred from IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed.

(ii) Impairment – Financial assets and contract assets
The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on expected credit
losses (ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under IAS 39. It applies to financial
assets classified at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI, contract assets under IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain financial
guarantee contracts.
The significant financial assets held by the Group that will be impacted by the impairment losses
recognised under IFRS 9 are trade receivables. Based upon the low level of with unpaid rent the impact
is deemed to be low. Management estimates the ECLs based on actual credit loss experienced to be to
be immaterial.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.1

Basis of preparation continued
2.1.3

Amendments to published Standards effective in the reporting period continued
(ii) Impairment – Financial assets and contract assets continued
The Company holds intercompany loan and receivables balances with the subsidiaries of the Group.
Management recognises that there will be an impact on the Company as a result of the deterioration in
credit quality of these loans, but has not assessed the financial impact at this stage from the recognition
of impairment provisions for the loans and receivables under IFRS 9 compared to the current provision
held under IAS 39.
(iii) Hedge accounting
The Group holds only two derivative instruments as part of its risk management strategy as hedging
relationships under IFRS 9. Management does not believe that the new standard will have a material
impact on accounting treatment or disclosures.
The Group will apply the new rules from 1 September 2018. Comparatives are not expected to
be restated.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The IASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS 18 which covers contracts
for goods and services. The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer. The standard permits either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption.
IFRS 15 does not apply to rental income which makes up the majority of total revenue of the Group but does apply
to other revenue streams such as service charge income and trading property disposals. At present the Group does
not estimate IFRS 15 to have a significant difference in the amount or timing of the recognition of revenue for the
non-rental income streams that fall under its scope and therefore conclude it will have an immaterial impact on the
Group Income Statement
Date of adoption by Group Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The Group intends
to adopt the standard for the year commencing 1 September 2018 using the modified retrospective approach which
means that the cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised in retained earnings as of 1 September 2018
and that comparatives will not be restated.
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet for a
lessee, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases. The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.
At present, as a lessee the Group holds a limited number of operating leases, with the non-cancellable future
lease payments at 31 August 2018 of £Nil. Management have performed an assessment of the impact of bringing
operating leases on balance sheet based on leases held at 31 August 2018. IFRS 16 is estimated to have an immaterial
impact to the Group.
Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group does not intend
to adopt the standard before its effective date. At this time the Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRS IC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a
material impact on the Group or the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.2

Property, plant and equipment
Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be
measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line method to write off the cost of assets to their estimated residual values
over their estimated useful life.
The estimated useful life for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
•

Office equipment: 10 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.

2.3

Investments in subsidiaries
Separate financial statements of the investor
In the Company’s financial statements, investment in subsidiaries is measured at cost less impairment. Where there
has been a permanent diminution in the value of an investment, it is recognised as an expense in the year in which
the diminution is identified.
On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged
or credited to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

2.4

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Company, its subsidiaries and associated Companies.
The Company controls an entity when it has power over the investee, is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to use its power to affect those returns. The Company
reassesses whether or not it still control the investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated.
Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.5

Foreign currency
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The individual financial statements of each entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Great Britain Pound
(‘GBP’), which is the functional and presentation currency for the Company and for the consolidated financial
statements.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented net in
the income statement within finance costs and finance income respectively.
(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows;
(i)

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement representing profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates; and
(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are
taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at closing rate.

2.6

Investment property
Property that is held for rental income or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property. Investment property also includes property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.
Land held under operating leases is classified and accounted for by the Group as investment property when the rest
of the definition of investment property is met.
Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes
and professional fees to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating.
The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost
is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value based on professional valuation
at each reporting date. These valuations form the basis for the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements.
Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Investment properties are
derecognised when they have been disposed of.
The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and other
assumptions market participants would make when pricing the property under current market conditions.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced,
the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment. Its fair value
at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
2.7

Leases
(a) Accounting for leases – where the Group is the lessee
(i)

Operating lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are
classified as operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments, made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease. Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties. See note 2.6
for the accounting policy relating to land held on an operating lease and used as investment property.

(b) Accounting for leases – where the Group is the lessor
Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the consolidated statement
of financial position (note 7). See note 2.8 for the recognition of rental income.
IFRS 16 Leases will become effective in the next accounting period for the Group. The Board believes that the
implementation of IFRS 16 will have a minimal effect on the treatment and disclosure of accounting for leases.

2.8

Revenue recognition
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease,
except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.
Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease term, even if the payments
are not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further
term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease where, at the inception of the lease, the directors are
reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.
When an incentive is given to a tenant, the carrying value of the investment property excludes any amount reported
as a separate asset as a result of recognising rental income on this basis.
Dividend income is recognised by the Group when the right to receive income is established.
Service and management charges are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
Other revenues earned by the Group are recognised on the following basis:
•

2.9

Interest income – on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group has
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
(a) Financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or the Group transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
The Group’s financial assets consist of derivative financial instruments and loans and receivables.
Financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position as trade and other receivables
are classified as loans and receivables. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice.
Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with interest rates. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value at each reporting date. The movement in fair value between
reporting periods is included in other comprehensive income. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.
Cash and cash equivalents are also classified as loans and receivables. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash
in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short- term highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less.
Loans to related parties are classified as loans and receivables and are recognised at fair value.
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2.9

Financial instruments continued
(b) Impairment of financial assets
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced and, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the receivable at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
(c) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
All loans and borrowings are classified as other liabilities. Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position.
Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at
amortised cost.

2.10 Share capital
Shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2.11

Tenant deposits
The Company’s subsidiaries obtain deposits from tenants as a guarantee for returning the property at the end of
the lease term in a specified good condition. Such deposits are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

2.12

Taxation
On 21 October 2015, the Company has ceased to be tax resident in Mauritius. It has entered into the UK Real Estate
Investment Trust (REIT) and transferred its tax residency to the UK. The Company benefits from exemption from
corporation tax on qualifying rental income and on the gains on disposal of UK investment properties.
Dividend payments comprises of two components: a Property Income Distribution (PID) from the REIT qualifying
activities and a dividend distribution from the non-qualifying activities (non-PID). The aggregate of these two
components are referred to as our total dividend. For most shareholders, PIDs will be paid after deducting
withholding tax at the current basic rate of 20%.
On 30 September 2018, the Group elected to leave the United Kingdom REIT regime as it had not met its
requirement of having a diversified investor base.
As from 1 October 2018, the Group is liable to United Kingdom tax on its property investments located in the United
Kingdom. There is no intention to transfer the Company’s management and control from the United Kingdom.
The Group’s investment properties are held in Guernsey resident companies so that the rate of UK tax payable on
rental income from properties located in the UK is currently 20%.
In respect of the Company’s subsidiaries based in Guernsey, taxation is provided on taxable profits at amounts
expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at
the reporting date.
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2.13

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement
of financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:
•

the initial recognition of goodwill; and

•

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting or taxable profit.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the difference can be utilised.
The amount of deferred tax asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/
(recovered).
Deferred tax arising as a consequence of investment property carried at fair value is calculated on the presumption
that the property will be recovered through a sale of the property in line with the Group’s business model. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embedded in the investment property over time
rather than through sale.

2.14

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the
obligation.
The amount recognised as provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation when a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

2.16

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared.

2.17

Segment reporting
Segment information presented relate to operating segments that engage in business activities for which revenues
are earned and expenses incurred. A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged
in providing services (business segment) or in providing services within a particular economic environment
(geographic segment) which is subject to risks that are different from those of other segments.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (directors).

2.18

Earnings per share and headline earnings per share
Basic earnings or loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Headline earnings or loss per share is calculated in terms of circular 4/2018 issued by the South African Institute of
Chartered Accountant by dividing headline profit or loss by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year. Headline earnings per share is required by the JSE.
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2.19

Hedge accounting
Hedge accounting is applied to financial assets and financial liabilities only where all of the following criteria are met:
•

At the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and
the Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

•

For cash flow hedges, the hedged item in a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure
to variation in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

•

The cumulative change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is expected to be between 80-125% of the
cumulative change in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged (i.e. it is
expected to be highly effective).

•

The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured.

•

The hedge remains highly effective on each date tested. Effectiveness is tested quarterly.

2.20 Cash flow hedges
The effective part of interest rate swaps designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of interest rate risk
arising from bank loans, are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve. The Group uses such derivatives to fix the interest rate on
bank loans.
If a highly probable forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-monetary asset, the cumulative loss/
(gain) is added to/(subtracted from) the cost of the asset acquired (basis adjustment”). Otherwise the cumulative
gain or loss in the other comprehensive income is reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss at
the same time as the hedged transaction affects profit or loss. The two transactions are recognised in the same line
item.

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1

Financial risk factors
Financial risks are risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group is exposed during or at the end of the
reporting period. Financial risk comprises market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The primary objectives of the financial risk management function are to establish risk
limits, and then ensure that exposure to risks stays within these limits.
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies
and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, they have delegated the authority for designing and operating
processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s management.
The Group’s overall risk management program seeks to maximise the returns derived from the level of risk to which
the Group is exposed and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
There have been no changes to the Group’s approach to risk management during the year.
(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market prices. The Group’s market risks arise from open positions in (a) foreign currencies and
(b) interest-bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent that these are exposed to general and specific market
movements.
(i)

Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as it has no significant financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than GBP.

(ii) Price risk
The Group has no significant exposure to price risk as it does not hold any equity securities or commodities.
(iii) Property rental risk
Property rental risk relates to the ability of existing tenants to pay their rent and the ability to attract new
quality tenants where required.
The Group has significant expertise in the real estate business and have appointed an asset manager to
manage the business and mitigate any potential risk. Management believes that the property rental risk is
considered to be a low risk for the Group.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
3.1

Financial risk factors continued
(a) Market risk continued
(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the Group’s interest-bearing assets do not generate significant amounts of interest, changes in market
interest rates do not have any significant direct effect on the Group’s income. Management believes
that the Group has a low risk that changes in market interest rates would have a significant impact on
interest income.
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk by virtue of borrowings from banks at variable rates
of interest.
The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored by the Group’s management on a periodic basis. The Group
borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest and uses financial instruments to fix the floating rates of
interest in accordance with its hedging policy. Trade receivables and payables (other than tenant deposits)
are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year.
The Group does not speculate in financial instruments which are only used to limit the Group’s exposure
to interest rate fluctuations. The Group’s policy is to hedge between 50% and 100% of its interest rate
exposure. At 31 August 2018, 86.5% (2017: 85.6%) of the Group’s debt was hedged using interest rate swaps.
The variable rate loan is protected by an interest rate swap which is carried at fair value. It has been
identified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Level 2 is defined as inputs other than quoted prices
included in Level 1 that are observable for the liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (as derived
from prices).
The average effective interest rates of financial instruments at the date of the statement of financial
position, based on reports reviewed by key management personnel, were as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents – 0.05% (2017: 0.31%/0.32%)
Bank borrowings – 3.09% (2017: 3.13%/3.51%)
Shareholder convertible loan – Prime rate South Africa + 200 basis point (2017: Nil)
At 31 August 2018, if interest rates on GBP denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been £324 959 (2017: profit of £245 068)
lower/higher for the Group and £88 837 (2017: £3 068) for the Company, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate borrowings.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents held at banks and trade receivables which include rentals receivable from lessees. Credit
risk is managed on a Group basis.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are entered into only with lessees with an
appropriate credit history, but the Group does monitor the credit quality of receivables on an ongoing basis. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant. The Group
does not have any tenants which provide in excess of 10% of the Group’s rental income.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets as set out below.
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

31 August

Trade receivables, net of provision for impairment (note 9):
– Rent receivable from lessees
– Other receivables
Loan to related parties
Cash and cash equivalents (note 11)
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844

39

–

5 176

4 738

912

4 864

5 179

5 582

951

4 864

–

–

33 658

65 525

3 471

5 510

118

769

8 650

11 092

34 727

68 158
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
3.1

Financial risk factors continued
(b) Credit risk continued
Deposits refundable to tenants may be withheld by the Group in part or in whole if receivables due from the
tenant are not settled or in case of other breaches of contract.
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at 31 August 2018 and 2017 approximates their
carrying value.
Management does not foresee any losses to arise from non-performance by the related parties in respect of the
loans advanced to them by the Company.
The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements at 31 August 2018 is the carrying amount
of the financial assets as set out in the statement of financial position.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Board of Directors aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
committed credit lines available.
The Group had no undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 August 2018 (2017: £1.5 million).
The Group’s liquidity position is monitored by the Board of Directors. A summary table with maturity of
financial assets and liabilities presented below is used by key management personnel to manage liquidity risks
and is derived from managerial reports at Company level. The amounts disclosed in the tables below are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of balances due within 12 months
generally equal their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

3 471

5 510

118

769

607

844

667

–

10 132

4 038

10 132

4 038

– Within one year

21 224

13 198

–

–

– Two to three years

9 047

5 498

–

–

134 534

162 667

–

–

–

–

–

–

164 805

181 363

–

–

5 000

5 508

1 490

1 268

31 August

The maturity analysis of financial instruments is as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
– Demand and less than 1 month
Trade receivables
– Demand and less than 1 month
Shareholder convertible loan
– Repayable when the Company undertakes the
vendor placement, failing which six months from the
advance date.
Bank borrowings

– More than three years
– Three to four years

Trade payables and accruals
– Demand and less than 1 month

The contractual undiscounted cash flows related to bank borrowings have an element of variable rates as well
as fixed interest rates, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the conditions existing at the last
interest payment dates which were 20 July 2018 for the HSBC Bank plc loan and 30 July 2018 for the Deutsche
Pfandbriefbank AG loan.
The directors would like to highlight that at 31 August 2018, the current liabilities exceeds the current assets
by £27.71 million for the Group. The Group will re-negotiate the terms of repayment of short-term borrowing
facilities into medium-to long-term borrowings as and when the need arises.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
3.2

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group uses long-term borrowings, cash and equity to achieve this.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Board reviews the Group’s capital structure, cost of capital and gearing levels.

3.3

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls
fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications or can lead
to financial loss. The Company’s subsidiaries cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but by initiating an
effective control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company’s subsidiaries are
able to manage risks.
The Company’s subsidiaries contract with various service providers and professional organisations. As a result, the
Company’s subsidiaries have no employees of their own. The financial statements reflect the costs of the various
service providers.

3.4

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1
comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
Investment property is carried at fair value which is categorised as level 3. Specific valuation techniques used to
value the investment property have been disclosed in note 7.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience as adjusted for current
market conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1

Judgements
Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, assumptions and management judgements that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are outlined below.
(a) Investment property
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in profit
or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair value. The property was valued
on the basis of market value in accordance with the internationally accepted Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation – Professional Standards January 2014 (incorporating the International Valuation
Standards).
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the investment properties are further explained in
note 7.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
4.2

Judgements continued
(b) Acquisitions
Properties can be acquired through the corporate acquisition of a subsidiary company. At the time of acquisition,
the Group considers whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business or simply a group of assets
and liabilities. The Group accounts for the acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of
activities acquired in addition to the property. More specifically, consideration is made of the extent to which
significant processes are acquired and the extent of ancillary services provided by the subsidiary.
When the acquisition of a subsidiary does not represent a business, it accounts for it as an acquisition of a group
of assets and liabilities. The costs of acquisition are allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on their
relative fair value and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.
(c) Operating lease commitments – Company as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property. The Group has determined,
based on evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
substantial portion of the economic life of the commercial property, that it retains all of the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the property and accounts for contracts as operating leases.
(d) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
The Company follows the guidance of IAS 39 on determining when an investment is other than temporarily
impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Company evaluates
among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of the investment is less than its cost and
financial health of and near term business outlook for the investee including factors such as the value of the
underlying investment properties, performance and operational and financing cash flows.
(e) Deferred tax on investment properties
For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties,
the directors reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded the Group’s investment
properties will be recovered through sale rather than being held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the properties over time.
(f) Limitation of sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption while
other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other
factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be
interpolated or extrapolated from these results.
Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are managed. Other
limitations include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent
the Group’s view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty.
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5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
THE GROUP
AND THE
COMPANY
£000
2018
Cost
20

At 1 September 2017 and 31 August 2018
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 September 2017

3

Charge for the year

2

As at 31 August 2018

5

Net book value
As at 31 August 2018

15

2017
Cost
20

At 1 September 2016 and 31 August 2017
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 September 2016

1

Charge for the year

2

As at 31 August 2017

3

Net book value
As at 31 August 2017

17

Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) consists of office equipment which was initially recognised at the cost of £20 401.
The Company has elected to use the cost model whereby the asset is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment.
The depreciable amount (cost less residual value) has been allocated on a systematic basis over the asset’s useful life, which
has been estimated at 10 years.

6.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
THE
COMPANY
£000
52 938

At 1 September 2017

(52 938)

Impairment
At 31 August 2018

–

At 1 September 2016

61 639

Impairment

(8 701)

At 31 August 2017

52 938

Impairment losses of £53 million have been accounted for by the Company during the financial year and are attributable
to the significant decline in value of the property investments held by its subsidiaries. The impairment has been calculated
using the recoverable amount derived from the fair value of the subsidiaries’ net assets.
There were no reversals of impairment losses on revalued assets during the year.
This has been disclosed as a separate item in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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6.

58

NF SD Property Immobilien GmbH & CoKG(8) 31 08 2018

(9)

NF Kik Prop Co S.r.o (Slovakia)

100

35

31 08 2018

NF SD Investment GP Immobilien GmbH(7)

31 08 2018

5 000

31 08 2018

NF Austria Hold Co Limited(6)

NF Guernsey II Limited

100

31 08 2018

NFE FinCo Limited(5)

100

86
100

31 08 2018

NF Netherlands Holdco B.V.(4)

31 08 2018

100

31 08 2018

New Frontier Europe Limited(3)

NF Hassfurt Investments Limited

7 520 002

31 08 2018

Burton Shopping Centre Limited

100

8 210 000

31 08 2018

Middlesbrough Shopping Centre Limited

5 000

7 549 002

31 08 2018

Burton Investments Limited

31 08 2018

7 961 000

31 08 2018

Middlesbrough Holdings Limited

31 08 2018

GBP

13 936 337

31 08 2018

BCC Eiffel Limited(1)

NF Germany Hold Co Limited(10)

GBP

31 08 2018 21 902 789
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GBP

GBP

GBP

EUR

EUR

EUR

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

31 08 2018 39 736 100

New Frontier Luxembourg Limited(2)

At 31 August 2018

GBP Currency

New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited

(i)

Year-end

capital

Stated

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES continued

(a) The Company’s subsidiaries are:

100

–

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

100

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

%

Direct

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

– Guernsey

100 Germany

100 Germany

100 Slovakia

100 Austria

100 Austria

100 Guernsey

– Guernsey

– Netherlands

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Slovakia

Austria

Austria

Guernsey

Guernsey

Netherlands

Guernsey

100 United Kingdom Guernsey
– Guernsey

Main

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

incorporation business

Country of

100 United Kingdom Guernsey

100 Guernsey

100 Guernsey

100 Guernsey

– Guernsey

– Guernsey

% business

Indirect Place of

PROPORTION
OF OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
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6.

13 936 337

31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017

BCC Eiffel Limited(1)

Middlesbrough Holdings Limited

Burton Investments Limited

Middlesbrough Shopping Centre Limited
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100
86
100
100
5 000
35
5 000
100
100
100

31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017

31 08 2017
31 08 2017
31 08 2017

NF Netherlands Holdco B.V.(4)*

NFE FinCo Limited(5)*

NF Austria Hold Co Limited(6)*

NF SD Investment GP Immobilien GmbH(7)*

NF SD Property Immobilien GmbH & CoKG(8)* 31 08 2017
31 08 2017

New Frontier Europe Limited(3)*

NF Kik Prop Co S.r.o (Slovakia)(9)*

NF Germany Hold Co Limited(10)*

NF Hassfurt Investments Limited*

NF Guernsey II Limited*

100

–

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

100

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

incorporation

Country of

– Guernsey

100 Germany

100 Germany

100 Slovakia

100 Austria

100 Austria

100 Guernsey

– Guernsey

– Netherlands

– Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Guernsey

Slovakia

Austria

Austria

Guernsey

Guernsey

Netherlands

Guernsey

100 United Kingdom Guernsey

100 United Kingdom Guernsey

100 Guernsey

100 Guernsey

100 Guernsey

– Guernsey

– Guernsey

% business

Indirect Place of

On 11 November 2016, New Frontier Europe Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and the Company subscribed for the entire share capital.

GBP

GBP

GBP

EUR

EUR

EUR

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

GBP

%

Direct

PROPORTION
OF OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Property holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

business

Main

(10) On 10 August 2017, NF Guernsey II Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and the Company subscribed for the entire share capital.

(9) On 9 August 2017, NF Hassfurt Investments Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and NF Germany Hold Co Limited subscribed for the entire share capital.

(8) On 9 August 2017, NF Germany Hold Co Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and New Frontier Europe Limited subscribed for the entire share capital.

(7) On 26 April 2017, NF Kik Prop Co s.r.o. was incorporated in Slovakia and NF Netherlands Holdco B.V. subscribed for the entire share capital.

(6) On 21 April 2017,NF SD Property Immobilien GmbH & CoKG was incorporated in Austria and NF Austria Hold Co Limited subscribed for the entire share capital.

(5) On 21 April 2017,NF SD Investment GP Immobilien GmbH was incorporated in Austria and NF Austria Hold Co Limited subscribed for the entire share capital.

(4) On 17 February 2017, NF Austria Hold Co Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and New Frontier Europe Limited subscribed for the entire share capital.

(3) On 9 February 2017, NFE FinCo Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and the Company subscribed for the entire share capital.

(2) On 6 April 2017, NF Netherlands Holdco B.V. was in incorporated in the Netherlands and the Company subscribed for the entire share capital.

(1)

* Management accounts as at 31 August 2017 have been used for consolidation.

All classes of shares held are Ordinary.

7 520 002

31 08 2017
31 08 2017

Burton Shopping Centre Limited

8 210 000

7 549 002

7 961 000

21 902 789

31 08 2017

New Frontier Luxembourg Limited(2)

39 736 100

GBP Currency

New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited

(ii) At 31 August 2017

Year-end

capital

Stated
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7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
THE GROUP
£000
(a) Fair value model
264 800

At 1 September 2017
Capital improvement during the year

1 132

Acquisition of property

8 191

Fair value loss on revaluation of investment property

(80 835)

Carrying value at 31 August 2018

193 288
2 079

Tenant incentives within receivables
Fair value at 31 August 2018

195 367

At 1 September 2016

272 588

Capital improvement during the year

2 258

Fair value loss on revaluation of investment property
Carrying value at 31 August 2017

(10 046)
264 800

Tenant incentives within receivables

1 200

Fair value at 31 August 2017

266 000

At the end of the period the fair value of the Group’s investment properties has been arrived at on the basis of market
valuations carried out by Colliers International Valuation UK LLP, external valuers to the Group.
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, incentives to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over
the term of the lease. The balance of these incentives at 31 August 2018 and 2017 is included in trade receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position and an amount equivalent to this is set against the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties.
(b) Valuation process
Colliers International Valuation UK LLP undertook their valuations in accordance with the “RICS Valuation –
Professional Standards, the 2014 Edition (the “Red Book”). This is an internationally accepted basis of valuation. The
properties have been valued by Russell Francis BSc (Hons) MRICS.
A fair value hierarchy of 3 is attributed to the investment property as there are a significant number of unobservable
inputs used to determine the fair value of the property. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair
value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Changes in levels
are analysed at each reporting date by the Board.
(c) Valuation technique
The fair value of the completed investment property is determined using an income capitalisation method. Under this
valuation method, the property’s fair value is estimated based on the normalised net operating income generated
by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation rate. The difference between the gross and net rental income
includes operating expenses and taking into account vacancy allowances and replacement reserve. The capitalisation
rate adopted is made by reference to the yield rates observed by the valuers for similar properties in the locality and
adjusted based on the valuers knowledge of the factors specific to the respective properties.
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7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY continued
(c) Valuation technique continued
The valuation has used a discounted cash flow technique using rents observed for nearby properties and those
negotiated for the properties. These gave:
THE GROUP
31 August

31 August

2018

2017

£

£

14.83

16.00

Recorded input
Rental value per square foot per year
Burton Shopping Centre
Middlesbrough Shopping Centre
Blackpool Shopping Centre

12.13

13.43

19.99

20.74

Unit 1, Stadium Business Park

8.25

–

Market valuation rate adopted

15.23

16.33

6.5

4.0

%

%

Purchaser’s costs

(%)

Equivalent yield
Burton Shopping Centre

7.81

6.01

Middlesbrough Shopping Centre

9.11

7.26

Blackpool Shopping Centre

7.76

6.00

Unit 1, Stadium Business Park

6.75

0.00

Market valuation rate adopted

8.08

6.35

THE GROUP
31 August

31 August

2018

2017

£000

£000

17 521

19 279

3 341

2 776

(d) The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:
Rental income
Direct operating expenses
(e) Sensitivity to changes in significant unobservable inputs
A significant change in the nominal yield in isolation would result in a significant change in valuation of the
investment properties. A decrease in yield of 50 basis points would result in an increase in total market value to
£207 million (2017: £289 million) and a 50 basis point increase would result in a total market value of £180 million
(2017: £252 million).
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7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY continued
(f) Segmental analysis
The Group splits its business by market segment.
UK Shopping
Centres

European
Industrial

Total

Value

£187 395 000

£7 971 339

£195 366 339

Value

95.99%

4.01%

100%

8.14%

6.75%

8.08%

1 117 957

80 065

1 198 022

93%

7%

100%

£16 369 407

£665 234

£17 034 641

Average annualised yield (Equivalent yield)
GLA (sq ft)
GLA
Contracted rent

96.09%

3.91%

100%

17 028 232

590 697

17 618 929

GLA

88.32%

100%

89.10%

Market rent

90.27%

100%

90.60%

Contracted rent
Market rent
Occupancy

Expiry by GLA
11.68%

–

10.90%

14.00%

–

13.07%

Between one and two years

7.78%

100%

7.26%

Between two and three years

7.80%

–

13.96%

Between three and four years

10.47%

–

9.77%

Over four years

48.27%

–

45.04%

Current Vacant
One year and earlier

Expiry by contracted rent
9.73%

–

9.40%

One year and earlier

23.53%

–

22.52%

Between one and two years

12.78%

100%

12.22%

9.61%

–

13.52%

Current Vacant (ERV)

Between two and three years

13.66%

–

13.07%

40.42%

–

38.67%
£14.23

Between three and four years
Over four years

£14.66

£8.31

Weighted average lease length to expiry (years)

9.79

8.98

9.75

Weighted average lease length to break (years)

9.17

2.19

8.87

93.95%

100%

94.19%

1.79%

–

1.72%

4.26%

–

4.09%

29

–

29

Weighted average rent per sq ft

Tenant profile by rental income
Class A: National Multiple Retailers,
Central Government
Class B: Regional Multiples smaller retailers
Class C: Other
Class C: Other (Number of tenants)
Details of the investment properties
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Property addresses

Type

Town

Region

Cleveland Centre,

Shopping centre

Middlesbrough

North East England

Coopers Square Shopping Centre,

Shopping centre

Burton upon Trent

West Midlands

Houndshill Shopping Centre

Shopping centre

Blackpool

North West England

Unit 1, Stadium Business Park

Warehouse

Dublin

Ireland
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7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY continued
(f) Segmental analysis continued
The GLA and rent per square foot of each property is set out below:
GLA (sq ft)
Cleveland Centre,

Rent per sq ft

411 960

12.73

Coopers Square Shopping Centre,

403 620

12.67

Houndshill Shopping Centre

302 377

19.88

Unit 1, Stadium Business Park

80 065

8.31

(g) Bank borrowings of £106.4 million (2017: £108.2 million) from HSBC Bank plc and £59.7 million (2017: £59.7 million)
from Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG are secured on the investment property portfolio (Note 13).
(h) Retail vacancy profile
The Company’s portfolio is predominantly retail. Vacant units in shopping centres represent 9.73% (2017: 5.49% ) vacant
space by ERV across the retail portfolio. The non-retail units are all fully let.
(i)

The average retail market rental per square foot by rentable area is GBP 15.23 (2017: GBP 16.81).

(j) Other information relating to retail properties
There is no weighted average rental escalation profile as no indexation is used in the UK.
The average annualised property net initial yield is 7.28% (2017: 7.32% ).
The rental area of the property is 1 117 957 square feet (2017: 1 116 766).

8.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
THE GROUP
31 August

2017

£000

£000

1 103

At 31 August 2018 – Asset/(liability)

31 August

2018

(300)

The derivative financial instruments held by the Group are two interest rate swaps entered at the level of the subsidiaries to
manage the Group’s interest rate and resulting cash flow exposure from the Group’s bank loans.
At 31 August 2018, the swap for New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited was of a notional amount of £84 million (2017: £84 million)
and a fixed rate of 0.53% (2017: 1.325%). On 14 August 2017 the Group paid a premium £1 597 000 to reset the fixed rate
from 1.325% to 0.5275% effective from 20 October 2017 for the remainder of the term. The fair value of the interest rate
swaps at 31 August 2018 amounted to a receivable of £569 499 (2017: £159 679 payable).
At 31 August 2018, the swap for New Frontier Luxembourg Limited was in respect of a notional value of £59.7 million
(2017: £59.7 million) and a fixed rate of 0.56% (2017: 1.431%). On 14 August 2017 the Group paid a premium £1 432 795 to
reset the fixed rate to 0.56% effective from 30 October 2017 for the remainder of the term. The fair value of the interest rate
swaps at 31 August 2018 amounted to a receivable of £533 151 (2017: £141 263 payable).
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9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
THE GROUP

Trade receivables

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

607

844

667

–

31 August

Receivables from related parties
(Note 26.1)
Other receivables
Income tax receivables

–

700

–

3 975

4 572

3 765

284

889

–

153

–

–

Accrued income

–

120

–

–

Prepayments

–

509

–

27

5 179

6 091

951

4 891

None of the receivables are either past due or impaired.
The Group and the Company credit risk’s concentration is spread over numerous tenants. Management ensures that the
Group rents its units to tenants with appropriate credit worthiness. The level of receivables is monitored regularly on a
tenant by tenant basis by the asset managers.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

10. LOAN TO RELATED PARTIES
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

–

–

33 658

62 525

31 August

Loans to related parties
(see Note 26.1)

The loans to related parties represents loans made wholly owned subsidiaries. These loans are unsecured, denominated in
GBP and they are repayable on demand, subject to the subsidiaries having sufficient cash resources available to make the
repayment and that the repayment does not breach any of the terms of the loan facility provided by HSBC Bank plc and
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, to which these loans have been subordinated.
During the year, the Company advanced a loan of £8.5 million to New Frontier Europe Limited on which interest was
charged at 8.4%. The total interest charged during the year was £594 674. All other loans to related parties are interest free.
In 2018 the Company impaired its loans to related parties by £39.4 million (2017:£nil). The level of impairment was assessed
by reference to the fair value of the assets of the related parties’ net assets.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
THE GROUP

Cash at bank
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THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

3 471

5 510

118

769
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12. SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s share capital consists of 160 935 407 (2017: 152 774 750) ordinary shares of no par value.
No of

Share

shares

capital
£000

At 1 September 2017
Issue of shares
At 31 August 2018
At 1 September 2016

152 774 750

39 412

8 160 657

7 724

160 935 407

47 136

152 774 750

Capital reduction

124 412

–

At 31 August 2017

(85 000)

152 774 750

39 412

The authorised number of shares is 300 000 000 (2017: 300 000 000) at no par value. All issued shares are fully paid,
except for 1 000 shares issued to a former director. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right
to dividends.
On 15 December 2017, the Company issued 8 160 657 at an issue price of ZAR 17.50 per share pursuant to a vendor
consideration placement in relation to the acquisition at Unit 1, Stadium Business Park, Dublin.

13. BORROWINGS
The Group’s borrowings are at floating rates of interest. Interest costs may increase or decrease as a result of changes in the
interest rates.
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

144 893

160 200

31 August

Non-current borrowings
Bank loans
Unamortised loan origination costs

(1 312)
143 581

–

–

(1 088)

–

–

159 112

–

–

Current borrowings
Bank loans
Shareholder convertible loans

Total borrowings

21 224

7 700

–

–

10 132

4 038

10 132

4 038

31 356

11 738

10 132

4 038

174 937

170 850

10 132

4 038

The Group obtained a term loan facility from Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG to finance the acquisition of the shopping centre
in Blackpool. The facility is for £59.7 million (2017: £59.7 million.) and was drawn in the previous period. The loan bears
interest at 1.7% per annum over three-month LIBOR and is repayable on 28 July 2020.
The Group obtained a term loan facility from HSBC Bank plc to finance the acquisition of shopping centres in
Middlesbrough and Burton on Trent on 15 April 2015 and on 7 April 2017 the facility was increased by £3.5 million for capital
improvement to the shopping centres. The facility was for up to £109.7 million and £3.5 million (2017: £3.5 million) was
drawn in the year. Owing to the breach of the LTV covenant following the fall in valuation of UK shopping centres, the loan
currently bears interest at 3.0% per annum over three-month LIBOR and is repayable in instalments, subject to loan to value
covenants, with a bullet repayment on 30 October 2022.
Due to the fall in investment property value the Group is liable to make a bullet repayment of £21.2 million and subsequent
quarterly amortisation of £1 130 886 each and therefore the maturity of the loan from HSBC Bank plc has been
reclassified accordingly.
The bank loans are secured by the investment properties and other assets in each shopping centre and their respective
holding company.
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13. BORROWINGS continued
The shareholder convertible loans carry interest at Prime Rate (South Africa) + 200 basis points. The loans are unsecured
and shall be converted into shares on the date upon which the Company undertakes a vendor placement, failing which they
are due for repayment on 12 April 2019. Since the year-end, the repayment date of this loan has been extended by one year
to 12 April 2020.
The Group’s borrowings are denominated in GBP.
The fair value of borrowings approximated their carrying value at the date of the consolidated statement of financial
position.
Interest paid on bank loans during the period amounted to £4 754 574 (2017: £4 330 000).
The table below shows the repayment schedule of the loans payable:
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000
4 038

31 August

31 356

11 738

10 132

– Two to three years

64 224

99 788

–

–

– Three to four years

4 523

59 324

–

–

74 834

–

–

–

174 937

170 850

10 132

4 038

– Within one year

– After four years

13 (a) Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities
THE GROUP
Shareholder
loan

Bank debt

Total

£000

£000

£000

Opening balance

4 038

166 812

170 850

Loan drawn down

12 800

–

12 800

Loan converted to shares

(7 724)

–

(7 724)

1 018

–

Interest capitalised

1 018

Repayment made

–

(1 782)

(1 782)

Payment of borrowing cost net of amortisation of finance costs

–

(225)

(225)

10 132

164 805

174 937

The movements for the Company are the same as those shown for Shareholder loans above.

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
THE GROUP

Trade and other payables
Accruals and deferred income
Other payables
Payables to related parties (Note 26.2)
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THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

31 August

1 675

1 522

778

200

3 065

3 501

712

809

260

485

–

5

–

–

–

254

5 000

5 508

1 490

1 268
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15. FINANCE COSTS
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

(4 697)

(4 330)

–

–

(1 070)

–

–

31 August

Interest payable:
– on bank loans

–

– on interest rate swap contracts

(1 018)

– on shareholder convertible loan
Amortisation of historic cash flow hedge reserve

(1 012)
(474)

Amortisation of loan origination costs

(38)
–
(391)

(1 018)

(38)

–

–

–

–

Loan non-utilisation fees

–

(14)

–

–

Bank charges

–

(9)

–

–

Interest income

–

5

595

–

(7 201)

(5 847)

(423)

(38)

16. TAXATION
Tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income.
THE GROUP
31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

14

Current tax on the results for the year
Over provision in prior year
Tax charge/(credit)

THE COMPANY
31 August

–

–

7

(84)

–

–

21

(84)

–

–

–

(a) The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s (loss)/profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the basic tax rate as follows:
THE GROUP

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Tax calculated at 19% (2017: 19.6%)
Effect of REIT exemption on UK income
and gains
Tax on non UK income and gains
Under/(over) accrued in prior years

THE COMPANY

31 August

31 August

31 August

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

31 August

(76 460)

158

(90 139)

3 209

(14 527)

31

(17 126)

629

14 527

(31)

17 126

(629)

14

–

–

–

7

(84)

–

–

21

(84)

–

–

The subsidiaries incorporated in Guernsey which own investment properties in the UK are subject to 20% income tax on
profits in the UK.
On 21 October 2015 New Frontier converted to a REIT for UK tax purposes and as such the Group is not subject to UK
tax provided that the group continues to fulfil the conditions of being a REIT.
On 30 September 2018, the Group elected to leave the United Kingdom REIT regime as it had not met its requirement
of having a diversified investor base.
As from 1 October 2018, the Group is liable to United Kingdom tax on its property investments located in the United
Kingdom. There is no intention to transfer the Company’s management and control from the United Kingdom.
The Group is liable to tax at 20% in Ireland on the net income from its property in Dublin.
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17. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS
THE GROUP
31 August

31 August

2018

2017

£000

£000

Basic (loss)/earnings attributable to equity holders of the Company

(76 481)

Fair value movement on investment properties (Note 7)

80 835

10 046

4 354

10 288

158 587 821

152 774 750

Headline earnings attributable to equity holders of the Company
Number of shares/weighted average number of shares

242

(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (GBP)
Headline earnings per share (GBP)

(0.482)

0.002

0.027

0.067

At 31 August 2018, the Company had shareholders convertible loans amounting to £10.132 million (2017: £4.038 million).

18. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

(90 139)

3 209

(a) Cash generated from operations
(76 460)

(Loss)/profit before taxation

158

Adjustments for:
6 713

Interest expense

5 452

1 018

Interest income

–

(5)

Depreciation

2

2

2

38

(595)

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

–

–

52 942

Dividend received

–

–

(5 500)

–
2
8 701
(13 050)

Impairment of loans to related parties

–

–

39 424

–

Foreign exchange difference

9

–

–

–

Amortisation of loan origination costs

474

391

–

–

Fair value loss on investment property

80 835

10 046

–

–

–

–

–

(1 193)

Changes in working capital:
Increase in receivable from related companies
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other
receivables

414

(440)

661

(722)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other
payables

(150)

771

477

952

Cash generated from operations

11 837

16 375

(1 710)

(2 063)

(b) Non-cash transactions
During the year a shareholder loan of £7.72 million was converted to equity and shares were issued for that amount.
In the previous year, to create additional distributable reserves, the Company has decreased its share capital by £85 million
and increased its distributable reserves under the provisions of section 62 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, which
reduces its stated capital that is not represented by the value of its assets.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The classes of financial instruments and fair value are as follows:
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

Loans and
receivables
£000

Carrying
value
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Carrying
value
£000

951

Financial Assets
2018
Trade and other receivables

5 179

5 179

951

Derivative financial instruments

1 103

1 103

–

–

Cash and cash equivalents

3 471

3 471

118

118

–

–

73 082

33 658

9 753

9 753

74 151

34 727

Trade and other receivables

5 310

5 310

4 864

4 864

Cash and cash equivalents

5 510

5 510

769

769

–

–

62 525

62 525

10 820

10 820

68 158

68 158

Loans to related parties

2017

Loan to related parties

The classes of financial instruments and fair value are as follows:
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

Fair
Value
£000

Carrying
Value
£000

Fair
Value
£000

Carrying
Value
£000

174 937

174 937

10 132

10 132

5 000

5 000

1 490

1 490

179 937

179 937

11 622

11 622

Financial Liabilities
2018
Interest bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables

During the year the Company issued 8 160 657 ordinary shares in converting a shareholder loan. The amount of the
loan converted was £7 723 214.
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

Fair
Value
£000

Carrying
Value
£000

Fair
Value
£000

Carrying
Value
£000

170 850

170 850

4 038

4 038

300

300

–

–

5 508

5 508

1 268

1 268

176 658

176 658

5 306

5 306

Financial Liabilities
2017
Interest bearing borrowings
Derivative financial instrument
Trade and other payables
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20. SUMMARY OF PUBLISHED RESULTS AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(a) Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

31 August
2016
£000

17 521

19 279

20 663

THE GROUP
Revenue
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Taxation

(76 460)

158

(21)

84

(76 481)

(Loss)/profit for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

52

242

(757)

2 284

(5 614)

(75 077)

2 526

(6 371)

(76 481)

242

(757)

(75 077)

2 526

(6 371)

1 404

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

(809)

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
– Owners of the parent
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
– Owners of the parent

–

– Non-controlling interest
Basic (loss)/earnings per share
Headline earnings per share

–

–

(0.482)

0.002

(0.005)

0.027

0.067

0.053

5 500

13 050

11 300

(90 139)

3 209

10 503

THE COMPANY
Revenue
(Loss)/profit before taxation

–

Taxation

(90 139)

(Loss)/profit for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(10)

3 209

10 493

–

–

(90 139)

3 209

10 493

(90 139)

3 209

10 493

(90 139)

3 209

10 493

–

Other comprehensive income

–

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
– Owners of the parent
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
– Owners of the parent
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20. SUMMARY OF PUBLISHED RESULTS AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued
(b) Statements of financial position
31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

31 August
2016
£000

194 406

264 817

272 607

8 650

11 601

9 485

203 056

276 418

282 092

39 412

124 412

THE GROUP
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
EQUITY
47 136

Share capital

(915)

Hedging reserve

(3 330)

(5 614)

(23 102)

63 678

(10 051)

23 119

99 760

108 747

Non-current liabilities

143 581

159 412

168 549

Current liabilities

36 356

17 246

4 796

179 937

176 658

173 345

203 056

276 418

282 092

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Owner’s interest
LIABILITIES

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
THE COMPANY
ASSETS

15

52 955

61 658

Current assets

34 727

68 185

63 237

Total assets

34 742

121 140

124 895
124 412

Non-current assets

EQUITY
Share capital
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Owner’s interest

47 136

39 412

(24 016)

76 422

23 120

115 834

(274)
124 138

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

11 622

5 306

757

Total liabilities

11 622

5 306

757

34 742

121 140

124 895

Total equity and liabilities

21. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting year but not yet incurred is as follows:
THE GROUP

Purchase of investment property

THE COMPANY

2018
£000

2017
£000

2018
£000

2017
£000

–

7 986

–

–
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22. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Management has determined that the Group derives its revenue from a single business activity, property investment.
Following the acquisition of Unit 1 Stadium Business Park, Dublin, the Group has two segments as set out below:
Value
£000

%

UK Shopping Centres

187 395

96

European warehouses

7 970

4

195 365

100

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. New Frontier Properties Ltd evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss arising from its investment properties.
Shopping
Centres

Revenue from external customers
Segment result
Fair value loss on investment property

Warehouses

Total

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2018
£000

548

16 973

17 521

516

11 055

(219)

(80 616)

11 571
(80 835)
(7 201)

Finance costs

5

Non-segmental item

(76 460)

Loss before taxation

(21)

Taxation

(76 481)

Loss for the year

Revenue from external customers
Segment result
Fair value loss on investment property

Property
31 August
2017
£000

Total
31 August
2017
£000

19 279

19 279

16 051

16 051

(10 046)

(10 046)
(5 847)

Finance costs
Profit before taxation

158
84

Taxation
Profit for the year from continuing operations

242

23. NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES
The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating leases. At the
year-end the Group had contracts with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:
THE GROUP
2018
£000
11 772

14 186

In the second to fifth year (inclusive)

30 922

37 148

After five years

92 108

100 665

134 802

151 999

Within one year
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2017
£000
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24. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
The Company has no ultimate parent and controlling party.
Copies of theses financial statements are available from the Company Secretary, Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius)
Limited, 5th Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius.
As at 31 August 2018, the following shareholders had holdings exceeding 5% of the Company’s total shares in issue:
31 August
2018

31 August
2017

BVI 2023 (Pty) Ltd

5.98%

5.98%

BVI 2024 (Pty) Ltd

5.98%

5.98%

BVI 2025 (Pty) Ltd

5.98%

5.98%

BVI 2026 (Pty) Ltd

5.98%

5.98%

BVI 2027 (Pty) Ltd

5.98%

5.98%

–

8.94%

Prescient Global Qualified Investor Type Fund PLC
Delfisat Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.44%

Delfiflo Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.44%

Delfiwiz Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.44%

Lesasign Pty Ltd

6.77%

5.44%

Delficraft Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.44%

Delfitime Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.37%

Clyroplex Pty Ltd

7.05%

5.14%

25. CONTINGENCIES
The Group has no significant contingent liabilities (2017: Nil).

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party transactions are made in the normal course
of business.
In addition, Key Management Personnel are considered to be related parties and any transactions with them are disclosed
below. For the purposes of related party disclosures under IAS 24, key management personnel of the Group comprise all
executive and non-executive directors.

26.1

Balances arising from sales of services and assets
THE GROUP

Relationship

THE COMPANY

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000
3 136

Receivables from related parties
New Frontier Guernsey 1 Ltd

Subsidiary

–

–

–

New Frontier Europe Limited

Subsidiary

–

–

–

139

Waypoint New Frontier Ltd

Key personnel

–

700

–

700

New Frontier Guernsey 1 Ltd

Subsidiary

–

–

16 635

41 616

New Frontier Luxembourg Limited

Subsidiary

–

–

13 933

20 909

New Frontier Europe Limited

Subsidiary

–

–

8 838

–

–

700

39 406

66 500

Loan to subsidiary undertaking

During the year, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related
parties (2017:nil). This assessment is carried out each financial year through examining the financial position of the
related party and the market in which the related party operates.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
26.2 Balances arising from purchase of services
THE GROUP

Relationship

THE COMPANY

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

–

–

–

254

–

–

–

254

Payables to related parties
New Frontier Luxembourg Limited

Subsidiary

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, bears no interest and have no fixed repayment terms and payable on
demand.
Waypoint New Frontier Ltd is considered to be a related party by virtue of the asset management agreement in
place between this company and New Frontier Properties Ltd, and a Director of the Company being an employee
of Waypoint New Frontier Limited. Waypoint New Frontier Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Waypoint Asset
Management Limited, which has entered into an asset management agreement with the Group to provide all
services regarding the operations of assets purchased in the UK.
During the year, a total of £Nil (2017: £Nil) for the Group and the Company was charged by Waypoint Asset
Management Limited in respect of these services. There was no outstanding balance at year-end (2017: £Nil) for
both the Group and the Company.
During the year, a total of £Nil (2017: £Nil) for the Company and £1 879 504 (2017: £689 837) for the Group was charged
by Waypoint New Frontier Limited in respect of these services. There was an outstanding balance at 31 August 2018
of £69 889 (2017: £Nil) for the Group. There was no balance outstanding at 31 August 2018 with the Company
(2017:£Nil).
Belasko Administration Limited, the administrator of the Group’s subsidiaries, is considered to be a related party
due to the fact that two common directors of the subsidiaries are employees of Belasko Administration Limited.
Administration fees of £178 507 (2017: £135 167) were charged to the Group for the year ended 31 August 2018 of
which £Nil (2017: £Nil) was outstanding at the year-end.

26.3 Loans payable
THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Shareholder convertible loan

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

10 132

4 038

During the year, one the Company’s shareholders advanced the Company a loan of £12.8m for future acquisition of
investment property . The terms of the loan are described in note 13.

26.4 Directors’ fees
THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Directors’ fees

31 August
2018
£000

31 August
2017
£000

130

189

Directors’ fees include an amount of £16 666 (2017: £22 000) paid to Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited
for directorship services rendered during the year. The amount of £129 500 as at 31 August 2018 is wholly for the
year ended 31 August 2018 and fully paid.

26.5 Waiver of dividend
Waiver of dividend has been described in note 27.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
26.6 Contract with related party
Waypoint New Frontier Ltd is considered to be a related party by virtue of the asset management agreement in
place between this company and New Frontier Properties Ltd, and a director of the Company being an employee
of Waypoint New Frontier Limited. Waypoint New Frontier Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Waypoint
Asset Management Limited, which has entered into an asset management agreement with the Group to provide all
services regarding the operations of assets purchased in the UK.
During the year, a total of £Nil (2017: £Nil) for the Group and the Company was charged by Waypoint Asset
Management Limited in respect of these services. There was no outstanding balance at year-end (2017: £Nil) for
both the Group and the Company.
During the year, a total of £Nil (2017: £Nil) for the Company and £1 879 504 (2017: £689 837) for the Group was charged
by Waypoint New Frontier Limited in respect of these services. There was an outstanding balance at 31 August 2018
of £69 889 (2017: £Nil) for the Group. There was no balance outstanding at 31 August 2018 with the Company
(2017:£Nil).

27. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
THE GROUP AND
THE COMPANY
31 August
2018
£000
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Final dividend declared on 14 November 2017 of 3.60 GBP pence per share

5 500

Interim dividend declared on 13 April 2018 of 3.00 GBP pence per share

4 827
10 327
(28)

Waiver of dividend

10 299

Net dividend

On 14 November 2017, the Directors declared a dividend of 3.60 pence per ordinary share amounting to a total dividend of
£5 500 000.
On 13 April 2018, the Directors declared a dividend of 3.00 pence per ordinary share amounting to a total dividend of
£4 828 062.
Waiver of dividend of £28k relates to dividend on shares of a former shareholder who had assigned the rights to his shares
to the Company as security against the amount owed by him to the Company.
2017
£000
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Final dividend declared on 17 October 2016 of 4.00 GBP pence per share
Interim dividend declared on 28 February 2017 of 3.60 GBP pence per share

6 111
5 500
11 611

Waiver of dividend

(98)

Net dividend

11 513

On 23 October 2015, the directors declared a dividend of 3.05 pence per ordinary share amounting to a total dividend of
£4 627 963.
On 7 April 2016, the directors declared a dividend of 3.6 pence per ordinary share amounting to a total dividend of £5 499 891.
Waiver of dividend of £98 000 relates to dividend on shares of a former shareholder who had assigned the rights to his
shares to the Company as security against the amount owed by him to the Company.
The Company uses distribution per share for trading statement purposes.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.
If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the proposals referred to in this document or as to the action you should take, you
should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional adviser.
If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your shares, please send this document, but not the accompanying personalised
form of proxy, at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the sale or
transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration number 123368C1/GBL)
Having its registered address at
Chemin Vingt Pieds, 5th Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius
SEM share code: NFP.N0000
JSE share code: NFP
ISIN: MU0453N00004
(“New Frontier” or “the Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of New Frontier will be held at 2nd Floor, 86 Brook Street, London,
W1K 5AY, United Kingdom at 10:00 UK time (12:00 South African time; 14:00 Mauritian time) on Monday, 25 February 2019 for the
purpose of:
(a) presenting the audited annual financial statements of the Company as well as the directors’ report for the year ended
31 August 2018; and
(b) considering and if deemed fit adopting with or without modification, the shareholder resolutions set out below.
Terms defined in the Integrated Annual Report to which this Notice of Annual General Meeting is attached (“Annual Report”)
shall, unless the context indicates otherwise, have the meanings ascribed to them in the Annual Report.
Resolutions 1 to 6 (inclusive) will be proposed as ordinary resolutions which require more than 50% of the votes cast to be in favour
in order for the resolution to be passed. As required by the JSE Listing Requirements, Resolution 7 will be proposed as an ordinary
resolution requiring at least 75 percent of the votes cast to be in favour in order for the resolution to be passed. Resolutions 8 and 9
are of a non-binding, advisory nature and should these resolutions be voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights exercised,
the Board undertakes to engage with the dissenting shareholders. Resolution 10 will be proposed as a special resolution which
requires at least 75% of the votes cast to be in favour in order for the resolution to be passed.
For those who are unable to attend, please complete the hard copy form of proxy enclosed and return it to the Company
Secretary by 14:00 Mauritian time (12:00 South African time) on Friday, 22 February 2019.

Timetable of events
Record date to be recorded in the register in order to be entitled to receive the notice of Annual
General Meeting

Friday, 14 December 2018

Record date to be recorded in the register in order to be entitled to participate in and vote at the
Annual General Meeting

Friday, 15 February 2019

Last date to lodge forms of proxy for the Annual General Meeting by 14:00 Mauritian time
(12:00 South African time) on

Friday, 22 February 2019

Annual General Meeting held at 10:00 UK time (12:00 South African time; 14:00 Mauritian time) on

Monday, 25 February 2019

Results of Annual General Meeting released on the SEM and SENS on or before

Tuesday, 26 February 2019

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

RESOLUTION 1: APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS
To receive and adopt the audited annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2018, together with
the directors’ and independent auditor’s reports thereon.

RESOLUTION 2.1: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr Sisa Ngebulana as a director.
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RESOLUTION 2.2: ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To elect Mr Robert Becker as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.3: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr Michael Riley as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.4: ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To elect Mr Patrick Smith as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.5: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr George Titan as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.6: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr Tinesh Ramprusad as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.7: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr William Heaney as a director.

RESOLUTION 2.8: RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR
To re-elect Mr Richard Thomas as a director.
Brief curriculum vitae in respect of the directors standing for re-election are set out on pages 8 and 9 of the Annual Report.

RESOLUTION 3: RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS
To re-appoint BDO & Co and Rookaya Chantry, as the independent auditor and the designated audit partner respectively of the
Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting in 2020.

RESOLUTION 4: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the auditors of the Company.

RESOLUTION 5: REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
To approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors, as follows: the sum of £10 000 per annum (£15 000 per annum for the
Chairperson of the Board), plus £1 000 per meeting attended or £2 000 per meeting attended for a Chairperson of a committee.

RESOLUTION 6: ISSUE OF SHARES
To authorise the Board, in terms of paragraph 4.1 of the Constitution, to issue up to 300 million ordinary shares at any time to any
person and in any number as it thinks fit pursuant to section 52 of the Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE
Listings Requirements, provided that such authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

RESOLUTION 7: GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES FOR CASH
To authorise the directors of the Company by way of a general authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company for cash,
as and when they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act 2001, the Constitution, the SEM Listing Rules and the
JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable, and subject to the following limitations, namely that:
a) the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must be
limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;
b) any such issue will be made to “public shareholders” and not “related parties”, all as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements,
unless the JSE otherwise agrees;
c) the total aggregate number of shares which may be issued for cash in terms of this authority may not exceed 80 467 703 shares,
being 50% (fifty percent) of the Company’s issued shares as at the date of this notice of this Annual General Meeting.
Accordingly, any shares issued under this authority prior to this authority lapsing shall be deducted from the 80 467 703 shares
the Company is authorised to issue in terms of this authority for the purpose of determining the remaining number of shares
that may be issued in terms of this authority;
d) in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of shares prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority shall be adjusted
accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;
e) in determining the price at which an issue of shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount permitted
will be 5% (five percent) of the weighted average traded price on the JSE of those shares over the 30 (thirty) business days
prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed to by the directors of the Company;
f) an announcement containing full details of the issue, including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the
weighted average traded price of the shares over the 30 (thirty) days prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing and
an explanation, including supporting documentation (if any), of the intended use of the funds will be published at the time of
any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within 1 (one) financial year, 5% (five percent) of the number of shares in issue
prior to the issue; and
g) this authority shall be valid until the Company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond
15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given.
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RESOLUTION 8: NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE ON REMUNERATION POLICY
To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, in accordance with the principles and practices of the King IV Code on
corporate governance, the Company’s remuneration policy, as further detailed on pages 21 to 22 of the Annual Report.

RESOLUTION 9: NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE ON REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, in accordance with the principles and practices of the King IV Code on
corporate governance, the Company’s remuneration implementation report with regard to the remuneration of executive
directors for the year ended 31 August 2018, as set out on page 21 of the Annual Report.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

RESOLUTION 10: WAIVER OF PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS
To authorise the Board, in terms of paragraph 4.6 of the Constitution, to issue any further shares proposed to be issued wholly for
cash consideration or for the acquisition of assets (which shall include a cheque received in good faith or a release of a liability of
the Company for a liquidated sum or an undertaking to pay cash to the Company at a future date), without having to first offer
such shares to shareholders in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of the existing shares held by them respectively,
provided that such authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

QUORUM

The quorum for the Annual General Meeting shall be at least 3 shareholders present in person or by proxy.
In addition:
a) the Annual General Meeting may not begin until sufficient persons are present at the Annual General Meeting to exercise, in
aggregate, at least 25% (twenty-five percent) of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised in respect of at least one
matter to be decided at the Annual General Meeting; and
b) a matter to be decided at the Annual General Meeting may not begin to be considered unless sufficient persons are present
at the Annual General Meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% (twenty-five percent) of all of the voting rights that are
entitled to be exercised in respect of that matter at the time the matter is called on the agenda.
After a quorum has been established for the Annual General Meeting, or for a matter to be considered at a meeting, all the
shareholders forming part of the quorum must be present at the meeting for the matter to be considered at the meeting.
Registered Office
Chemin Vingt Pieds
5th Floor
La Croisette
Grand Baie
Mauritius
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd, Company Secretary
Dated this 21st day of December 2018
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NOTES

As at 21 December 2018 (being the last practicable day prior to the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting), the Company’s
issued share capital consisted of 160 935 407 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. No shares are currently held in treasury.
Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any shares by or in accordance with the Constitution, at a
meeting of the Company :
a) every person present and entitled to exercise voting rights shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote on a show of hands, irrespective
of the number of voting rights that person would otherwise be entitled to exercise; and
b) by way of a poll any person who is present at the meeting, whether as a shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder, has the
number of votes determined in accordance with the voting rights associated with the securities held by that shareholder.
A shareholder may be represented at a meeting of shareholders by a proxy who may speak and vote on behalf of the shareholder.
A Form of Proxy is enclosed for your use if desired. To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy must be completed and reach
the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office, Chemin Vingt Pieds, 5th Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius
(or by email to kevin@ocs.world), so as to arrive not less than 24 hours before the time of holding the meeting, being Friday,
22 February 2019 at 14:00 Mauritian time and 12:00 South African time.
In the case of joint holders of shares,
a) if two or more persons hold shares jointly each of them may be present in person or by proxy at a meeting of shareholders
and may speak as a shareholder;
b) if only one of the joint owners is present in person or by proxy he may vote on behalf of all joint owners; and
c) if two or more of the joint owners are present in person or by proxy they must vote as one.
To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the appropriate box on your form of proxy with an ‘X’. To abstain from
voting on a resolution, select the relevant ‘vote withheld’ box. A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will
not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote (or
abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the meeting.
Any power of attorney or any other authority under which your form of proxy is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or
authority) must be included with your form of proxy.
In the case of a member which is a company, your form of proxy must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf
by a duly authorised officer of the Company or an attorney for the company.
If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of
proxies will take precedence.
All beneficial owners whose shares have been dematerialised through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), the
Central Depository and Settlement Company Limited (“CDS”) or broker other than with “own name” registration, must provide
the CSDP, CDS or broker with their voting instructions in terms of their custody agreement should they wish to vote at the Annual
General Meeting. Alternatively, they may request the CSDP, CDS or broker to provide them with a letter of representation, in
terms of their custody agreements, should they wish to attend the Annual General Meeting. Such shareholder must not complete
the attached form of proxy.
Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. The Company has to answer any questions raised by members
at the meeting which relate to the business being dealt with at the meeting unless: 1. to do so would interfere unduly with the
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information; 2. the answer has already been given on a
website in the form of an answer to a question, or 3. it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the
meeting to answer the question.

Explanation of Resolutions:
Resolution 1: The Annual Report was sent to shareholders on or before 31 December 2018, along with this notice.
Resolutions 2.1 – 2.9: In accordance with paragraph 12.1.2 of the Constitution of the Company, any director appointed under
paragraph 12.1.1 shall hold office only until the following Annual General Meeting and shall then retire, but shall be eligible for
appointment at that meeting.
Resolution 3: Pursuant to the Companies Act 2001, the auditors and designated audit partner will be re-appointed by a
resolution of the shareholders. The Audit and Risk Committee of the Company confirms that it has assessed the suitability of the
appointment of BDO & Co and Rookaya Chantry in accordance with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings Requirements.
Resolution 4: Pursuant to the Companies Act 2001, where the auditor is appointed at a meeting of the Company, the fees and
expenses of an auditor of a company shall be fixed by the Company at the meeting or in such manner as the Company may
determine at the meeting.
Resolution 5: The Companies Act 2001 requires the remuneration of the non-executive directors to be approved by a resolution
of shareholders. It is noted that the remuneration remains unchanged from 2018.
Resolution 6: Shareholders’ authority is required for the directors to issue shares to investors. The directors consider that this
authority should be sought in respect of such number of shares as have been approved to be issued by the Stock Exchange of
Mauritius on 30 May 2017, such authority to expire at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2020.
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Resolution 7: In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, shareholder authority is required for directors to issue shares for cash to
investors. As a company with a primary listing on the AltX such authority, if granted, allows the Company to issue up to 50% of its
issued share capital, subject to the limitations set out in the resolution. The authority shall expire at the Annual General Meeting to
be held in 2020.
Resolutions 8 – 9: In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and pursuant to the practices of King IV, the Company hereby tables
the remuneration policy and the remuneration implementation report for a non-binding, advisory vote of shareholders in order
to promote fair, responsible and transparent remuneration. Should Resolutions 8 and 9 be voted against by 25% or more of the
voting rights exercised, the Board undertakes to engage with the dissenting shareholders to ascertain the reasons therefore and
to address legitimate and reasonable objections and concerns.
Resolution 10: Paragraph 4.6 of the Constitution of the Company requires shares to be offered to existing shareholders pro rata
to their respective shareholdings in the Company, unless the shareholders by special resolution and the Board by resolution
otherwise direct. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is in the best interests of the Company to seek authority of the
shareholders to waive pre-emption rights. Such authority will apply for a period expiring at the Annual General Meeting to be held
in 2020.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The directors consider that the passing of Resolutions 1 to 10 is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole and accordingly request shareholders to vote in favour of all the resolutions to be proposed at this year’s
Annual General Meeting

80

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius on 5 June 2014)
(Registration number 123368C1/GBL)
SEM share code: NFP.N000
JSE share code: NFP
ISIN: MU0453N00004
(“New Frontier” or the “Company”)

FORM OF PROXY – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For use by shareholders of the company holding certified shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own-name”
registration, nominee companies of CSDPs, CDSs and brokers’ nominee companies, registered as such at the close of business
on 15 February 2019 (the “voting record date”), at the Annual General Meeting to be held at 2nd Floor, 86 Brook Street, London,
W1K 5AY, United Kingdom on Monday, 25 February 2019 at 10:00 UK time (12:00 South African time; 14:00 Mauritian time)
(the “Annual General Meeting”) or postponement or adjournment thereof.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own-name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised
shareholders, other than with “own-name” registration should provide instructions to their appointed CSDP, CDS or broker in the
form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP, CDS or broker.
I/We (NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 
Of (ADDRESS) 
being the registered holder of 

shares, hereby appoint

(1) 

or failing him/her,

(2) 

or failing him/her,

(3) the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company and at any adjournment or postponement thereof.
Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote
as he/she thinks fit.

Resolutions
Please mark ‘X’ to indicate how you wish to vote
Ordinary Resolutions

For

1

To receive and adopt the audited annual financial statements for the year ended
31 August 2018, together with the directors’ report and independent auditor’s report
thereon

2.1

To re-elect Sisa Ngebulana as a director

2.2

To elect Robert Becker as a director

2.3

To re-elect Michael Riley as a director

2.4

To elect Patrick Smith as a director

2.5

To re-elect George Titan as a director

2.6

To re-elect Tinesh Ramprusad as a director

2.7

To re-elect William Heaney as a director

2.8

To re-elect Richard Thomas as a director

3

To re-appoint BDO & Co and Rookaya Chantry, as independent auditor and designated
partner respectively of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the
Company’s next Annual General Meeting in 2020

4

To approve the remuneration of the auditors

5

To approve the remuneration of non-executive directors

6

To authorise the Board to issue shares

7

To grant the Board a general authority to issue shares for cash

8

To endorse the remuneration policy by way of a non-binding advisory vote

9

To endorse the remuneration implementation report by way of a non-binding advisory vote

10

Special resolution: Waiver of pre-emptive rights

Against

Vote
Withheld

Signature:								Date: 
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FORM OF PROXY continued

Notes
1.

Every shareholder has the right to appoint some other person/(s) of their choice, who need not be a shareholder as his proxy
to exercise all or any of his rights, to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting. If you wish to appoint a person
other than the Chairman, please insert the name of your chosen proxy holder in the space provided (see over). If the proxy
is being appointed in relation to less than your full voting entitlement, please enter the number of shares in relation to which
they are authorised to act as your proxy. If left blank your proxy will be deemed to be authorised in respect of your full voting
entitlement (or if this form of proxy has been issued in respect of a designated account for a shareholder, the full voting
entitlement for that designated account).

2. To appoint more than one proxy you may photocopy this form. Please indicate the proxy holder’s name and the number of
shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy (which, in aggregate, should not exceed the number of
shares held by you). Please also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions being given. All forms must be
signed and should be returned together in the same envelope.
3. The ‘Vote Withheld’ option is provided to enable you to abstain on any particular resolution. However, it should be noted
that a ‘Vote Withheld’ is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of the votes ‘For’ and
‘Against’ a resolution.
4. Entitlement to attend and vote at the meeting and the number of votes which may be cast thereat will be determined by
reference to the Register of Members of the Company on Friday, 15 February 2019. Changes to entries on the Register of
Members after that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.
5. The completion and return of this form will not preclude a member from attending the meeting and voting in person. If you
attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.
6. The Form of Proxy overleaf must arrive at the Company Secretary, Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd at the
Company’s registered office, Chemin Vingt Pieds, 5th Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius, or by email to kevin@ocs.world,
accompanied by any power of attorney under which it is executed (if applicable), no later than 14:00 Mauritian time
(12:00 South African time) on Friday, 22 February 2019.
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DEFINITIONS

“AltX”

the Alternative Exchange of the JSE

“Article 50”

the clause in the EU’s Lisbon Treaty outlining the procedure for any EU member to exit
unilaterally which, when invoked, officially declares a country’s intention to leave the EU
giving the leaving country two years to negotiate an exit deal

“Asset Management Agreement”

the agreement dated 7 April 2015 (as amended) between the Company and the Asset
Manager, in terms of which the Asset Manager will manage the assets of the Company

“Asset Manager” or “Waypoint”

Waypoint New Frontier Ltd, a UK incorporated asset manager, which serves as
New Frontier’s asset manager

“Billion Group”

Billion Group Proprietary Ltd, property development and investment Group of companies
including Billion Property Group and Billion Residential

“Brexit”

vote in June 2016, in which the electorate voted, by a small majority, to advise the
government that the UK should leave the European Union

“CEO”

Chief Executive Officer

“Constitution”

Constitution of the Company dated 5 June 2014 (as amended)

“Directors” or “the Board”
or “Board of Directors”

the Directors of the Company as set out on pages 8 and 9

“ERV”

Estimated Rental Value

“EU”

European Union

“EUR” or “€”

Euros

“FD”

Financial Director

“FSC”

the Financial Services Commission of Mauritius

“GBL1”

a category one Global Business License issued under the Financial Services Act 2007

“GBP” or “GBP”

Pounds Sterling

“GDP”

Gross Domestic Product

“GLA”

Gross lettable area, measured in square metres

“IBC”

Inside back cover

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards

“ICR”

interest cover ratio

“investment strategy”

the investment strategy of the Group as determined by the Board of Directors

“JSE”

JSE Limited (Registration number 2005/022939/06), a company duly registered and
incorporated with limited liability under the company laws of South Africa, licensed as an
exchange under South Africa’s Financial Markets Act, 2012

“JSE Listings Requirements”

the Listings Requirements as published by the JSE, as amended from time to time

“King IV Report”

King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016

“LTV”

Loan-to-Value Ratio

“Mauritius”

the Republic of Mauritius

“Mauritian Companies Act”

the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 (Act 15 of 2001) as amended

“MUR” or “Rs”

the Mauritian Rupee

“NAV”

net asset value
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“Property portfolio”

means the immovable properties owned or leased by the Company or its subsidiaries
at the date of signature of the property services agreement, together with (1) any other
immovable property which may be acquired, directly or indirectly, or leased, and
(2) listed or unlisted shares, loans or other interests in companies and other persons
or legal structures which own or lease immovable properties, whether owned by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries from time to time

“Rebosis”

Rebosis Property Fund Ltd, a REIT listed on the JSE

“REIT”

Real Estate Investment Trust

“SA Companies Act”

the South African Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) as amended

“SEM”

the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd established under the repealed Stock Exchange Act
1988 and now governed by the Securities Act 2005 of Mauritius

“sq ft”

Square foot

“the Board”

The Board of Directors of New Frontier Properties Ltd

“the Company” or “the Group”
or “New Frontier”

New Frontier Properties Ltd, incorporated under the law of Mauritius and holding a
category one Global Business License issued by the FSC

“the period” or
“the period under review”

The period from 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018

“UK”

United Kingdom

“US$” or “USD”

United States Dollar

“WAULT”

Weighted average unexpired lease term
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